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Doug Burgum
Governor
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Attorney General

Tuesday, November 28, 2023

Governor's Conference Room or Microsoft Teams — 9:00 am

Join on your computer or mobile app
Click here to join the meeting
Or call in (audio only)
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l. Bank of North Dakota — Todd Steinwand, Jared Mack (Eide Bailly)
A. Presentation of the Following Audits for Year Ending June 30, 2023

Ag PACE Fund (Attachment 1)
PACE Fund (Attachment 2)
Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund (Attachment 3)

iv. Rebuilders Loan Program (Attachment 4)

v. Addiction Counselors Internship Loan Program (Attachment 5)
vi. Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (Attachment 6)

vii. School Construction Revolving Loan Fund (Attachment 7)
viii. COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program (Attachment 8)

ix. Innovation Technology Loan Fund (LIFT) (Attachment 9)

x. North Dakota Student Loan Trust Fund (Attachment 10)

xi. Clean Sustainable Energy Authority (CSEA) (Attachment 11)
xii. Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (Attachment 12)
xiii. Beginning Farmer Revolving Loan Fund (Attachment 13)

B. Presentation of Non-Confidential Meeting Minutes:

Finance and Credit Committee September 27, 2023 Meeting
Minutes (Attachment 14)

Advisory Board September 27, 2023 Meeting Minutes (Attachment
15)

Agriculture Commissioner

C. Report of Bank of North Dakota Standard & Poor's Credit Rating
(Attachment 16)
D. Other Bank of North Dakota Business

Meeting Closed to the Public for Executive Session Pursuant to NDCC
6-09-35, 44-04-18.4, 44-04-19.1 and 44-04-19.2
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tel:+17013280950,,615386949#%20
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(approximately 9:30 am)
1. Bank of North Dakota Executive Session — Todd Steinwand, Kirby

Evanger

A. Presentation of Concentrations of Credit as of September 30, 2023
(Confidential Attachment 17)

B. Presentation of Confidential Finance and Credit Committee Meeting
Minutes September 27, 2023 (Confidential Attachment 18)

C. Presentation of Confidential Advisory Board Meeting Minutes September
27,2023 (Confidential Attachment 19)

(approximately 10:00 am)

lll.  Clean Sustainable Energy Program Confidential Business — Reice Haase
A. Grant Round 5 Confidentiality Requests (Confidential Attachment 20)

Meeting Returns to Public Session

IV.  Formal actions taken in open session

(approximately 10:15 am)
V. Housing Finance Agency — Dave Flohr, Jennifer Henderson
A. NDHFA Bond Trust Fund Performance Report (Attachment 21) — Victor
Chaing and Ansel Caine, Caine Mitter & Associates
B. Multi-family Programs Award Selection Report (Attachment 22) — Jennifer
Henderson
C. Other Housing Finance Agency Business

(approximately 11:15 am)
VI. Department of Mineral Resources — Lynn Helms
A. Consideration of the following cases:

i. Order 33073 for Case 30460 regarding the confiscation of all
production-related equipment and salable oil at the Carpentier 1-16
well (File No. 9965), NENE Section 16, T.163N., R.91W., Portal Field,
Burke County, ND (Attachment 30)

ii. Order 33074 for Case 30461 regarding the confiscation of all
production-related equipment and salable oil at the BP NORTH
HAAS 1-4-20-163-82 well (File No. 30616), SENE Section 20,
T.163N., R.82W., North Haas Field, Bottineau County, ND
(Attachment 31)

iii. Order 33075 for Case 30462 regarding the confiscation of all
production-related equipment and salable oil at the BP NORTH
HAAS 4-1-20-163-82 well (File No. 30638), NESE Section 20,



Industrial Commission Agenda
Page 3
November 28, 2023

T.163N., R.82W., North Haas Field, Bottineau County, ND
(Attachment 32)

iv. Order 32941 for Case 30329 regarding amendments to the
"General Rules and Regulations for the Conservation of Crude Oil
and Natural Gas" codified as Article 43-02 North Dakota
Administrative Code (Attachment 33)

B. Other Department of Mineral Resources Business

(approximately 11:45 am)
VIl. State Energy Research Center — Tom Erickson, Tyler Hamman

B. Presentation of State Energy Research Center Annual Report
(Attachment 34)

C. Consideration of funding under Contract SERC 2019-01 Task 2 -
Provide Prompt Expertise for North Dakota: CO2 Enhanced Oil
Recovery Incremental Oil Production Forecast, $135,000
(Attachment 35)

D. Other State Energy Research Center business

(approximately 12:00 pm)
VIIl. North Dakota Renewable Energy Program - Reice Haase
A. Presentation of Renewable Energy Program Project Management and
Financial Report (Attachment 36)
B. Consideration of the following Renewable Energy Program Grant
Round 52 applications:
i. R-052-A - Smart Holistic Zero Waste Utilization Paradigm
(SHOWUP); Submitted by Surojit Gupta, UND; Total Project
Costs: $3,780,360; Recommended Funding: $500,000
(Attachment 37)
ii. R-052-B - Prairie Horizon Carbon Management Hub; Submitted
by Kevin Connors, EERC; Total Project Costs: $3,225,000;
Amount Requested: $100,000 (Attachment 38)
C. Other Renewable Energy Program Business

(approximately 12:15 pm)
IX. North Dakota Lignite Research, Development and Marketing Program -
Reice Haase, Mike Holmes
A. Presentation of Lignite Research, Development and Marketing Program
Project Management and Financial Report (Attachment 39) — Reice Haase
B. Consideration of the following Lignite Research, Development and
Marketing Program Grant Round 103 application:
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i. LRC-103A: High-Value Products from Produced Water
Mineralization via Reaction with Anthropogenic CO2;
Submitted by Semplastics EHC LLC; Total Project Costs:
$356,494; Recommended Funding: $100,000 (Attachment 40)

C. Report on completion of projects FY19-88-220 (Project Tundra FEED) and
FY22-99-244 (Project Tundra CREST) (Attachment 41) — Andrew Sorbo,
Vice President of Strategic Initiatives, Minnkota Power Cooperative

D. Other Lignite Research, Development and Marketing Program Business

(approximately 12:45)

X. Office of the Industrial Commission — Karen Tyler, Reice Haase
A. Consideration for approval of October 315, 2023 meeting minutes
(Attachment 42)

B. Consideration of 2024 Industrial Commission Meeting Schedule -
Reice Haase (Attachment 43)

C. Consideration of Compensation Recommendation (Attachment 44) —
Karen Tyler

D. Other Office of the Industrial Commission Business

(approximately 1:00 pm)
Xl.  Adjournment

Next Meeting — December 18%, 2023, 1:00 pm
Governor's Conference Room, Bismarck, ND
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Ag PACE Fund (the Fund), a special revenue fund of the
State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to
the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund, and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com

1730 Burnt Boat Loop, Ste. 100 | P.O. Box 1914 | Bismarck, ND 58502-1914 | T 701.255.1091 | F 701.224.1582 | EOE



Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
20, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023



AG PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

The management discussion and analysis of the Ag PACE Fund’s financial performance provides an overview of
the Ag PACE Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Please read it in
conjunction with the financial statements of the Ag PACE Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The purpose of the Ag PACE (Agriculture Partnership in Assisting Community Expansion) Fund is to buy down
the interest rate on loans to on-farm businesses. The program is available to businesses which may include
nontraditional agriculture, manufacturing, processing, value-added processing, targeted service industries, or other
activities calculated to provide income. Other activities include the financing of subsurface field tiling projects, the
purchase of irrigation equipment, the purchase of equity shares issued by a new or expanding value-added
processing business, the purchase of capital improvements for retention of livestock, or the purchase of capital
improvements for dairy operations.

The Ag PACE Fund recognizes two rates: Yield Rate and Borrowing Rate. The yield rate is the rate charged by the
lead lender for the loan. The borrowing rate is the rate charged to the borrower. The interest differential is the
difference between the yield rate and the borrowing rate. This difference is paid to the lead lender under an
agreement among the lead lender, the borrower, and the Bank of North Dakota on behalf of the Ag PACE Fund.

The Ag PACE Fund provides buydown dollars, to the extent available, to reduce the borrower’s interest rate by a
maximum of four percent (4%) and may not be less than one percent (1%). The maximum buydown amount per
borrower may not exceed a biennium cap of $20,000 with a lifetime cap of $60,000. In order to receive buydown
funds in excess of $20,000, the applicant must have a net worth of less than $1,500,000.

Ag PACE loans are made by a lead lender in participation with Bank of North Dakota. Currently there are 431 Ag
PACE loans outstanding. The total principal outstanding is $69,006,362, of which Bank of North Dakota
participates in $26,601,541. The remaining amount of buydown interest to be paid by this Fund on these loans is
$4,753,745. Of the total outstanding amount, there were 104 loans totaling $18,034,208 made during the year ended
June 30, 2023 in comparison to 75 loans totaling $13,755,866 made during the year ended June 30, 2022 and 64
loans totaling $9,981,161 made in the year ended June 30, 2021. Loans funded in the year ended June 30, 2023 will
require $1,990,325 in buydown interest during the life of the loans. There are 4 pending loan commitments totaling
$589,035 as of June 30, 2023.

As of June 30, 2023, there was ($37,541) in interest buydown funds remaining for the 2021-2023 biennium.

$ 5,500,000 Legislative Appropriation transfer from BND
1,000,000 Transfer from PACE
(3,000,000) Transfer to Beginning Farmer
16,101 Carry Forward from Previous Allocation
73,444 Adjustments on Defaulted or Prepaid Loans
(3.627.086) Committed and Funded
$ (37,541

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature appropriated $5,000,000 to the Ag PACE Fund from the Bank of North
Dakota’s undivided profits for the biennium beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2023. This appropriation
provides the Fund with adequate resources to meet its mission of providing buydown interest on loans. As of June
30, 2023, the Bank has transferred $5,000,000 to the fund.

(continued on next page) 4



AG PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed emergency measure House Bill 1199 that authorizes the Bank of North
Dakota to transfer the sum of $20,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to PACE funds

during the effective date of the act, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has transferred
$500,000 to the fund.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Ag PACE Fund is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial
statements include the balance sheets and the statements of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances.
The balance sheet provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Ag PACE Fund, with the differences between
the two reported as fund balance. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance identifies
the operating performance of the Ag PACE Fund for the year.

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS
Cash deposits $ 87,610 $ 548,157 $ 94,622
Cash deposits for buy downs committed 4,753,745 3,877,217 3,209,316
Total assets $ 4,841,355 $ 4425374 $ 3,303,938
LIABILITIES $ - $ - $ -
FUND BALANCE 4,841,355 4,425,374 3,303,938
Total liabilities and fund balance $ 4,841,355 $ 4425374 $ 3,303,938

Cash Deposits for Buy Downs Committed

Cash deposits for buy downs committed represents reserved funds that are held by the Bank of North Dakota to buy
down the interest for qualifying loans. Cash deposits for buy downs committed increased 23% in 2023 and 21% in
2022, due to the increase in volume from prior years.

Fund Balance
The Fund Balance represents funds available to the Ag PACE Fund. Fund balance increased by $415,981, or 9%,

from 2022 to 2023 primarily due to net transfers in to the Fund. Fund balance increased by $1,121,436, or 34%,
from 2021 to 2022 primarily due to net transfers in to the Fund.

(continued on next page) 5



AG PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
REVENUES $ - $ - $ -
EXPENDITURES - Buydown interest 1,084,019 878,564 908,059
EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES (1,084,019) (878,564) (908,059)
TRANSFERS IN 4,500,000 2,000,000 5,740,000
TRANSFERS OUT (3,000,000) - (5,080,000)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 415,981 1,121,436 (248,059)
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 4,425,374 3,303,938 3,551,997
FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR $ 4,841,355 $ 4,425374 $ 3,303,938

Expenditures

The monies that are being paid to the Bank of North Dakota to buy down the interest rate for qualifying loans are
paid in advance and are amortized over the life of the loans based upon the repayment terms of the individual
qualifying loan. Interest expense increased $205,455, or 23%, from 2022 to 2023 due to increase volume. Interest
expense remained relatively flat from 2021 to 2022.

Transfers In/Out

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $3,500,000 to the Ag PACE Fund.
Additional transfers of $1,000,000 from PACE and $3,000,000 to Beginning Farmer were made throughout the
year.

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $2,000,000 to the Ag PACE Fund.
During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $2,500,000 to the Ag PACE Fund. Ag

PACE also received net transfers of $1,740,000 from Beginning Farmer and transferred out $3,580,000 to the PACE
Fund.

(continued on next page) 6



AG PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

The 2019 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorized the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$4,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Ag PACE Fund during the biennium
ending June 30, 2021. The Fund was also authorized to use up to $1,000,000 of this funding to assist farmers and
livestock producers that have suffered recent disaster-related losses. As of June 30, 2021, all funds were transferred.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$5,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Ag PACE Fund during the biennium
beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has transferred $5,000,000 to the
fund.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed emergency measure House Bill 1199 that authorizes the Bank of North
Dakota to transfer the sum of $20,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to PACE funds

during the effective date of the act, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has transferred
$500,000 to the fund.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$5,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Ag PACE fund during the biennium
beginning July 1, 2023, and ending June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2023, no funds have been transferred.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers and creditors with a general overview of the Ag
PACE Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Ag PACE Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you
have any questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O.
Box 5509, Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5509.



AG PACE FUND
BALANCE SHEETS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
2023 2022
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota 87,610 548,157
Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota
for buydowns committed 4,753,745 3,877,217
Total assets 4,841,355 4,425,374
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
LIABILITIES - -
FUND BALANCE
Committed 4,841,355 4,425,374
Total fund balance 4,841,355 4,425,374
Total liabilities and fund balance 4,841,355 4,425,374

See Notes to Financial Statements




AG PACE FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Buydown interest

EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in
Transfers out

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

$ - -
1,084,019 878,564
(1,084,019) (878,564)
4,500,000 2,000,000
(3,000,000) -
415,981 1,121,436

4,425,374 3,303,938

$ 4,841,355 4,425,374




AG PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 6-09.13 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Agriculture Partnership in Assisting
Community Expansion (Ag PACE) Fund. The fund is revolving and all monies transferred into the fund, interest
on fund monies and payments to the fund are appropriated for the purposes of the fund. The Bank of North Dakota
(an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota) supervises and administers the Ag PACE Fund. The purpose of
the Ag PACE Fund is to buy down the interest rate on loans made by a lead financial institution in participation
with the Bank of North Dakota. The Bank of North Dakota’s participation may not exceed 80% nor be less than
50% of the total loan.

Loans eligible for the buydown are loans to on-farm North Dakota businesses that are using the proceeds to purchase
real property or equipment, expand their facility, acquire working capital or inventory, purchase irrigation
equipment, purchase equity shares in a value-added ag-processing business or purchase capital improvements for
retention of livestock or dairy operations. The loan funds cannot be used to refinance any existing debt.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus, the Ag PACE Fund should include all component units over which the Ag PACE Fund exercises
such aspects as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to
impose its will on that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits
to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the Ag PACE Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the reporting entity. The Ag PACE Fund is
included as part of the primary government of the State of North Dakota’s (State) reporting entity.

Accounting Standards

The Ag PACE Fund follows the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which is the
nationally accepted standard setting body for establishing generally accepted accounting standards for governmental
entities.

Fund Accounting

The Ag PACE Fund is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e. measurable and available).
Measurable means the amount of the transaction can be determined. Available means due and collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The State has defined
available as being collected within one year.

(continued on next page) 10



AG PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. Special
revenue funds are accounted for using the current financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement
focus, generally only current assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements for
these funds present increases (e.g., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (e.g., expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Ag PACE Fund has entered into commitments to buy down interest rates on
loans. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Fund Balance Classifications

Governmental funds classify fund balance based on the constraints imposed on the uses of these resources. The
spendable portion of the fund balance consists of committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the North Dakota State Legislature — the government’s highest
level of decision making authority. These committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the
Legislature removes the specified use by taking the same type of action imposing the commitment. This
classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been
specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS

The carrying value and bank balance of the Ag PACE Fund’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $87,610
and $548,157, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were insured or collateralized with securities held by the
entity or its agent in the entity’s name; none were collateralized with securities held by the counterparty’s trust
department or agent in the entity’s name; and all were either collateralized with securities held by the counterparty
or by its trust department or agent but not in the entity’s name, or collateralized. These monies are deposited in the
Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. The Fund’s
deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 06-
09-10).

NOTE 3 - CASH DEPOSITS AT BANK OF NORTH DAKOTA FOR BUYDOWNS COMMITTED
The monies that are being held by the Bank of North Dakota to buy down the interest rate for qualifying loans are

paid in advance. Buydown interest is amortized over the life of the loans based upon the repayment terms of the
individual qualifying loan.

(continued on next page) 11



AG PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Ag PACE Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited
in the Bank of North Dakota. In lieu of an administrative fee, the Bank of North Dakota does not pay interest to the
Ag PACE Fund on the cash accounts held at the Bank of North Dakota. Interest buydowns amortized into interest
expense totaled $1,084,019 and $878,564 in 2023 and 2022, of which approximately 50% accrued to the Bank of
North Dakota.

The Ag PACE Fund also has on deposit with the Bank of North Dakota monies used to fund the interest buydowns
on qualifying loans, which is included in “cash deposits for buydowns committed” on the balance sheet (see Note
3).

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $3,500,000 to the Ag PACE Fund. The
Fund also received a transfer of $1,000,000 from PACE and transferred out ($3,000,000) to the Beginning Farmer
during the year ended June 30, 2023. During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Bank of North Dakota transferred
$2,000,000 to the Ag PACE Fund.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$5,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Ag PACE Fund during the biennium
beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has transferred $5,000,000 to the
fund.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed emergency measure House Bill 1199 that authorizes the Bank of North
Dakota to transfer the sum of $20,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to PACE funds

during the effective date of the act, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank has transferred
$500,000 to the fund.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$5,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Ag PACE fund during the biennium
beginning July 1, 2023, and ending June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2023, no funds have been transferred.

NOTE 5 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Ag PACE Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Ag PACE
Fund is administered by the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by
the state for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Ag PACE Fund
(the Fund), a special revenue fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year ended June 30,
2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Fund’s basic
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 20, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore,
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not been identified. We did identify a
certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses
as item 2023-001 that we consider to be a material weakness.
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Exhibit A-1, cont

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Ag PACE Fund’s Response to Findings

Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on Ag PACE Fund’s
response to the finding identified in our audit and described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings

and Responses. Ag PACE Fund’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

é«e/ﬁ% L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023
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Ag PACE Fund
Schedule of Findings and Responses
Year Ended June 30, 2023

2023-001 - Improper Recording of Transfers, Material Weakness

Criteria: A good system of internal controls includes an appropriate review process to ensure that the
appropriate transfers in and transfers out are being recorded.

Condition: As a result of our audit procedures, we discovered the improper recording of gross transfers in and
transfers out. We identified the exclusion of a $1,000,000 transfer in of BND’S undivided profits and the

exclusion of the subsequent transfer out of the same amount.

Cause: The internal control process of the financial statement review failed to identify the exclusion of the
transfers.

Effect: Exclusion of transfers could result in misstatements to the financial statements.

Recommendation: We recommend a separate review of all approved transfers in of BND’s undivided profits and
subsequent transfers out occur to ensure proper recording on the financial statements.

Views of responsible officials: Management of the Bank agrees with the finding. Transfers will be adjusted to
properly reflect the current period. Going forward additional checks will be added to the transfer worksheet to
verify the correct amounts are recorded.
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CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Ag PACE Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?

As discussed in the schedule of findings and responses, there was one internal control deficiency
identified as a result of the audit.

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No

5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com 16

1730 Burnt Boat Loop, Ste. 100 | P.O. Box 1914 | Bismarck, ND 58502-1914 | T 701.255.1091 | F 701.224.1582 | EOE



Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None
2. ldentify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

None

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
Transfers In and Transfers out both increased by $1,000,000 as a result of the internal control

deficiency discussed in the schedule of findings and responses.

4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s
satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. Identify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. ldentify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.
None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.
None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or

whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
September 20, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of the Ag PACE Fund (the Fund) as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 20, 2023. Professional
standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent
Auditor’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated September 20, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments. There are no sensitive estimates affecting the financial
statements.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to financial statement users. There are no sensitive disclosures affecting
the financial statements.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. The following misstatements that we identified as a result of our audit procedures were
brought to the attention of, and corrected by, management:

Understatement of Transfers In $1,000,000
Understatement of Transfers Out $1,000,000

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Fund’s financial statements or the auditor’s report.
No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated September 20, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and

accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, business conditions
affecting the entity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material
misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s
auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

@M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
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CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the PACE Fund (the Fund), a special revenue fund of the
State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to
the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 8 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Fund. The combining balance sheets and combining statements of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balance are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not
a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the combining balance sheets and combining statements of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balance are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
20, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

@M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023



PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

The management's discussion and analysis of the PACE Fund's financial performance provides an overview of the
PACE Fund's financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021. Please read it in
conjunction with the financial statements of the PACE Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The purpose of the PACE (Partnership in Assisting Community Expansion) Fund is to assist North Dakota
communities in expanding their economic base. The PACE Fund is available to all cities and counties throughout
North Dakota for qualified projects. These loans are made by a lead financial institution in participation with Bank
of North Dakota.

The 2021 Legislature approved the following appropriations and transfers from the identified PACE programs
during the biennium July 1, 2021 through June 30, 2023:

PACE $ 24,500,000 Legislative Appropriation transfer from BND
1,171,162 Carry Forward from Previous Allocation
(12,700,000) Transfer to Flex PACE
(600,000) Transfer to Biofuels
(1,000,000) Transfer to Ag PACE
(500,000) Transfer to Affordable Housing PACE
(400,000) Transfer to Beginning Farmer
403,755 Adjustments on Defaulted or Prepaid PACE Loans
(7,557.749) Committed and pending
$ 3,317,168
Flex $ 20,000,000 Legislative Appropriation transfer from BND
1,846,985 Carry Forward from Previous Allocation
13,200,000 Transfer from PACE
750,000 Transfer from Biofuels
1,496,044 Adjustments on Defaulted or Prepaid Flex PACE Loans
(33.167.306) Committed and pending
$ 4,125,723
Biofuels $ 1,000,000 Legislative Appropriation transfer from BND
(210,975) Carry Forward from Previous Allocation
247,597 Transfer from Medical PACE
600,000 Transfer from PACE
(750,000) Transfer to PACE
306,159 Adjustments on Defaulted or Biofuels PACE Loans
(1,112.926) Committed and pending
$ 79,855
Medical $ 0 Legislative Appropriation transfer from BND
(247,597) Transfer from Biofuels PACE
247,597 Carry Forward from Previous Allocation
$ 0

(continued on next page) 4



PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $18,500,000 to PACE, $750,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $8,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $11,500,000 from PACE to Flex PACE, $600,000 from PACE to
Biofuels, $1,000,000 from PACE to Ag PACE, $500,000 from PACE to Affordable Housing, and $400,000 from
PACE to Beginning Farmer.

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $6,000,000 to PACE, $250,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $12,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $1,200,000 from PACE to Flex PACE and $247,597 from Medical PACE
to Biofuels.

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $9,000,000 to PACE and $6,000,000
to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers were made throughout the year,
including $6,575,000 from PACE to Flex PACE, $1,955,000 from PACE to Biofuels, and $3,580,000 from Ag
PACE to PACE.

The following is a recap of the PACE Fund activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021:

PACE Flex PACE BioFuels PACE Medical PACE

Current number of loans 92 1,048 76 3
Total outstanding principal $ 111,592,394 $ 317,730,879 $ 14,156,695 $ 12,659,325
Loans funded in year ended June 30, 2021 6 155 7 1
Original loan amount funded $ 30,087,500 $ 117,763,655 $ 30,247,238 $ 5,000,000
Buydown $ 696,722 $ 11,141,053 $ 2,186,083 $ 2,200,000
Buydown not disbursed $ 937,154 $ 3,114,253 $ - $ -
Loans funded in year ended June 30, 2022 15 171 10

Original loan amount funded $ 43,610,602 $ 114,640,116 $ 2,473,109 $

Buydown $ 4,024,973 $ 14,360,062 $ 612,867 $

Buydown not disbursed $ 1,000,000 $ 3,483,080 $ - $

Loans funded in year ended June 30, 2023 11 184 2

Original loan amount funded $ 15,483,000 $ 115,044,197 $ 801,086 $

Buydown $ 4,387,053 $ 18,124,301 $ 301,920 $

Buydown not disbursed $ 500,000 $ 2,269,233 $ - $

Loans pending as of June 30, 2023 5 92 3

Loan commitments outstanding $ 57,537,487 $ 112,164,793 $ 7,471,086 $

Buydown $ 1,632,159 $ 9,894,044 $ 598,641 $

Available buydown as of June 30, 2023 $ 3,317,168 $ 4,125,723 $ 79,855 $

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The PACE Fund is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial
statements include the balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance. The
balance sheet provides readers the assets and liabilities of the PACE Fund, with the differences between the two
reported as fund balance. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance identifies the
operating performances of the PACE Fund for the year.

(continued on next page) 5



PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash deposits $ 82,622,198 $ 72,596,170 67,344,192
LIABILITIES

Accrued interest payable $ 1,357,417 $ 1,116,230 1,020,800
FUND BALANCE 81,264,781 71,479,940 66,323,392

Total liabilities and fund balance $ 82,622,198 $ 72,596,170 67,344,192

Fund Balance

The Fund Balance represents funds available to the PACE program. Fund balance increased by $9.8 million, or
14%, from 2022 to 2023, $5.2 million, or 8%, from 2021 to 2022, and $6.7 million, or 11%, from 2020 to 2021

primarily due to transfers from the Bank of North Dakota.

(continued on next page)



PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
REVENUES - Interest income $ 405,334 $ 396,741 $ 428,600
EXPENDITURES - Buydown interest 16,470,493 13,490,193 12,346,953
EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES (16,065,159) (13,093,452) (11,918,353)
NET TRANSFERS IN/OUT 25,850,000 18,250,000 18,580,000
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 9,784,841 5,156,548 6,661,647
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 71,479,940 66,323,392 59,661,745
FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR $ 81,264,781 $ 71,479,940 $ 66,323,392

Expenses

Buydown interest expense is the Fund’s share of the periodic payments made to the trustee to cover the interest rate
buydown. Interest expense increased $3.0 million, or 22%, from 2022 to 2023, increased $1.1 million, or 9%, from
2021 to 2022, and increased $1.2 million, or 10%, from 2020 to 2021 primarily due to an increase in Flex PACE
activity.

Transfers In/Out

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $18,500,000 to PACE, $750,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $8,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $11,500,000 from PACE to Flex PACE, $600,000 from PACE to
Biofuels, $1,000,000 from PACE to Ag PACE, $500,000 from PACE to Affordable Housing, and $400,000 from
PACE to Beginning Farmer.

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $6,000,000 to PACE, $250,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $12,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $1,200,000 from PACE to Flex PACE and $247,597 from Medical PACE
to Biofuels.

During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $9,000,000 to PACE and $6,000,000
to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers were made throughout the year,
including $6,575,000 from PACE to Flex PACE, $1,955,000 from PACE to Biofuels, and $3,580,000 from Ag
PACE to PACE.

(continued on next page) 7



PACE FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

The 2019 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$26,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund and $1,000,000 to the
Biofuels PACE fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2019, and ending June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2021,
all funds have been transferred.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2058 which modified the classification of qualified North
Dakota businesses for Biofuels by removing the loan type livestock operation and adding value-added operation.
Value-added operation includes a producer that engages in dairy and milking or feeding of animals or poultry which
enhances the value before sale into the marketplace.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$26,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund and $1,000,000 to the
Biofuels PACE fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023,
all funds have been transferred.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed emergency measure House Bill 1199 that authorizes the Bank of North
Dakota to transfer $20,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund during
the effective date of the act, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, $18,500,000 has been transferred.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$39,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund and $1,000,000 to the
Biofuels PACE fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2023, and ending June 30, 2025. The demand for these
funds is projected to remain steady. As of June 30, 2023, no funds have been transferred.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers and creditors with a general overview of the
PACE Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the PACE Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have
any questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box
5509, Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5509.



PACE FUND
BALANCE SHEETS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
2023 2022
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota 82,622,198 72,596,170
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
LIABILITIES
Accrued interest payable 1,357,417 1,116,230
FUND BALANCE
Committed for interest buydown 78,944,083 70,701,820
Committed for future interest buydown 2,320,698 778,120
Total fund balance 81,264,781 71,479,940
Total liabilities and fund balance 82,622,198 72,596,170

See Notes to Financial Statements




PACE FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

REVENUES
Interest income

EXPENDITURES
Buydown interest

EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in, net of interfund transfers
Transfers out, net of interfund transfers
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

$ 405,334 $ 396,741
16,470,493 13,490,193
(16,065,159) (13,093,452)
27,250,000 18,250,000
(1,400,000) -
9,784,841 5,156,548
71,479,940 66,323,392

$ 81,264,781 $ 71,479,940
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PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 6-09.14 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Partnership in Assisting Community
Expansion (PACE) Fund. The fund is revolving and all monies transferred into the fund, interest on fund monies
and payments to the fund are appropriated for the purposes of the fund. The Bank of North Dakota (an enterprise
fund of the State of North Dakota) supervises and administers the PACE Fund. The purpose of the PACE Fund is
to buy down the interest rate on loans made by a lead financial institution in participation with the Bank of North
Dakota. The Bank of North Dakota’s participation may not exceed 80% nor be less than 50% of the total loans. If
the lenders approve the loan and there is evidence of the community’s commitment and ability to fund its portion
of the buydown, the fund’s participation in the buydown is approved as part of BND’s loan approval process.

The PACE programs recognize two rates: Yield Rate and Borrowing Rate. The yield rate is the rate charged by the
lead lender for the loan. The borrowing rate is the rate charged to the borrower. The interest differential is the
difference between the yield rate and the borrowing rate. This difference is paid to the lead lender under an
agreement among the lead lender, the borrower, the community (if required) and the Bank of North Dakota on
behalf of the PACE Fund. The PACE fund provides buydown dollars, to the extent available, to reduce the
borrower's interest rate by a maximum of 5% and may not be less than 1%.

PACE Program

Loans eligible for the buydown are loans to new or expanding North Dakota businesses using the proceeds to purchase
real property or equipment, expand their facility, or fund permanent working assets. The loan funds cannot be used to
refinance any existing debt or for the relocation of business within North Dakota. The community shall determine the
amount of the interest rate buydown and apply to the Bank of North Dakota for participation from the PACE Fund.
The funds for the community’s portion of the buydown may come from local development corporation contributions,
community funds, future dedicated tax programs, or any other community source. The maximum amount from the
fund in the interest rate buydown may not exceed $500,000 per borrower in any biennium. The communities within
the state are given a percentage factor to determine the PACE Fund's maximum participation in the interest rate
reduction. These funds are on deposit with BND's Trust Department which has been appointed to act as agent for
the interest rate reduction fund.

Flex PACE Program

Flex PACE was designed to provide interest buydown to non-PACE qualifying businesses in which the community
determines eligibility and accountability standards. Flex PACE targets essential community businesses without the
job creation requirement. The communities within the state are given a percentage factor to determine the PACE
Fund's maximum participation in the interest rate reduction. The maximum amount from the fund in the interest
rate buydown may not exceed $500,000 per borrower in any biennium. These funds are on deposit with BND's
Trust Department which has been appointed to act as agent for the interest rate reduction fund.

(continued on next page) 11



PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Biofuels PACE Program

Biofuels is established in N.D.C.C 17-03 to provide interest buydown to qualified North Dakota businesses which
are defined as biodiesel, ethanol, and green diesel production facilities, and livestock operations. The maximum
interest buydown per borrower for each eligible use is $500,000 for a biodiesel, ethanol, or green diesel project, and
$250,000 for a livestock operation. The Biofuels PACE Loan Program does not require a community interest
buydown match or job creation. Recipients of Biofuels PACE are not eligible for regular PACE or Flex PACE
funds.

Medical PACE Program

The Medical PACE Program provides interest buydown to assist in the financing of critical access hospital medical
infrastructure throughout North Dakota. The maximum interest buydown amount does not apply to the Medical
PACE Program nor does the community percentage factor. Loan proceeds may be used to finance the purchase of
land, the purchase of equipment, or to purchase, lease, erect, or improve any structure or facility to the extent that
the governing board of the health care facility has authority to authorize such activity.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus — an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, the PACE Fund should include all
component units over which the PACE Fund exercises such aspects as (1) appointing a voting majority of an
organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on that organization or, (3) the potential for
the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the PACE Fund.

Based on the criteria of GASB Statement No. 61, no organizations were determined to be part of the reporting entity.
The PACE Fund is included as part of the primary government of the State of North Dakota’s (State) reporting entity.

Accounting Standards and Adoptions of Accounting Policies

The PACE Fund follows the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which is the
nationally accepted standard setting body for establishing generally accepted accounting standards for governmental
entities.

Fund Accounting

The PACE Fund is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified
accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e. measurable and available).
Measurable means the amount of the transaction can be determined. Available means due and collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The State has defined
available as being collected within one year.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. Special
revenue funds are accounted for using current financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
generally only current assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements for these
funds present increases (e.g., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (e.g., expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets.

(continued on next page) 12



PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the PACE Fund has entered into commitments to buy down interest rates on
loans. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Fund Balance Classification

Governmental funds classify fund balance based on the constraints imposed on the uses of these resources. The
spendable portion of the fund balance consists of committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the North Dakota State Legislature — the government’s highest
level of decision making authority. These committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the
Legislature removes the specified use by taking the same type of action imposing the commitment. This
classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been
specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS

The carrying value and bank balance of the PACE Fund’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022, was $82,622,198
and $72,596,170, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are
uncollateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North
Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
PACE Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits.

NOTE 3 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

During the year ended June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $18,500,000 to PACE, $750,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $8,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $11,500,000 from PACE to Flex PACE, $600,000 from PACE to
Biofuels, $1,000,000 from PACE to Ag PACE, $500,000 from PACE to Affordable Housing, and $400,000 from
PACE to Beginning Farmer.

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Bank of North Dakota transferred $6,000,000 to PACE, $250,000 to
Biofuels PACE, and $12,000,000 to Flex PACE from its current earnings and undivided profits. Additional transfers
were made throughout the year, including $1,200,000 from PACE to Flex PACE and $247,597 from Medical PACE
to Biofuels.

The PACE Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited in
the Bank of North Dakota. The Bank of North Dakota pays interest to the PACE Fund on monies that have been
disbursed to the funding agency. In lieu of an administrative fee, the Bank of North Dakota does not pay interest to
the PACE Fund on the cash accounts held at the Bank of North Dakota that have not been disbursed to the funding
agency. Interest buydowns amortized into interest expense totaled $16,470,493 and $13,490,193 for the years ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(continued on next page) 13



PACE FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2058 which modified the classification of qualified North
Dakota businesses for Biofuels by removing the loan type livestock operation and adding value-added operation.
Value-added operation includes a producer that engages in dairy and milking or feeding of animals or poultry which
enhances the value before sale into the marketplace.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$26,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund and $1,000,000 to the
Biofuels PACE fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2022,
all funds have been transferred.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed emergency measure House Bill 1199 that authorizes the Bank of North
Dakota to transfer $20,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund during
the effective date of the act, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, $18,500,000 has been transferred.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed House Bill 1014 that authorizes the Bank of North Dakota to transfer
$39,000,000 from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the PACE fund and $1,000,000 to the
Biofuels PACE fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2023, and ending June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2023,
no funds have been transferred.

NOTE 4 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The PACE Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The PACE Fund is
administered by the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the
State for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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PACE FUND
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2023

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash deposits at the
Bank of North Dakota

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued interest payable

Total liabilities
FUND BALANCE
Committed for legally
contracted interest buydowns
Committed for future interest

buydowns

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Flex BioFuels Medical

PACE PACE PACE PACE Total
$ 14,375,601 57,729,818 $ 3,915,536 6,601,243 82,622,198
$ 14,375,601 57,729,818 $ 3,915,536 6,601,243 82,622,198
$ 327,126 894,340 $ 86,346 49,605 1,357,417
327,126 894,340 86,346 49,605 1,357,417
11,773,057 56,835,478 3,783,910 6,551,638 78,944,083
2,275,418 - 45,280 - 2,320,698
14,048,475 56,835,478 3,829,190 6,551,638 81,264,781
$ 14,375,601 57,729,818 $ 3,915,536 6,601,243 82,622,198
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PACE FUND
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
JUNE 30, 2022

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash deposits at the
Bank of North Dakota

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accrued interest payable

Total liabilities

FUND BALANCE
Committed for legally
contracted interest buydowns
Committed for future interest
buydowns

Total fund balance

Total liabilities and fund balance

Flex BioFuels Medical

PACE PACE PACE PACE Total
$ 13,729,242 47,378,433 $ 4,298,969 7,189,526 72,596,170
$ 13,729,242 47,378,433 $ 4,298,969 7,189,526 72,596,170
$ 164,905 766,017 $ 134,894 50,414 1,116,230
164,905 766,017 134,894 50,414 1,116,230
13,031,740 46,612,416 3,918,552 7,139,112 70,701,820
532,597 - 245,523 - 778,120
13,564,337 46,612,416 4,164,075 7,139,112 71,479,940
$ 13,729,242 47,378,433 $ 4,298,969 7,189,526 72,596,170
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PACE FUND

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
Flex BioFuels Medical
PACE PACE PACE PACE Eliminations Total

REVENUES

Interest income 71,867 333,467 - - - 405,334
EXPENDITURES

Buydown interest 4,087,730 10,860,404 934,885 587,474 - 16,470,493
EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES (4,015,863) (10,526,937) (934,885) (587,474) - (16,065,159)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

Transfers in 19,900,000 20,750,000 1,350,000 - (14,750,000) 27,250,000

Transfers out (15,400,000) - (750,000) - 14,750,000 (1,400,000)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 484,137 10,223,063 (334,885) (587,474) - 9,784,841
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 13,564,338 46,612,415 4,164,075 7,139,112 - 71,479,940
FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 14,048,475 56,835,478 3,829,190 6,551,637.78 - 81,264,781
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PACE FUND

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
Flex BioFuels Medical
PACE PACE PACE PACE Eliminations Total

REVENUES

Interest income 69,016 327,725 - $ - - 396,741
EXPENDITURES

Buydown interest 1,984,083 9,247,435 1,643,222 615,453 - 13,490,193
EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES (1,915,067) (8,919,710) (1,643,222) (615,453) - (13,093,452)
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 6,000,000 13,200,000 497,597 - (1,447,597) 18,250,000

Transfers out (1,200,000) - - (247,597) 1,447,597 (0)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 2,884,933 4,280,290 (1,145,625) (863,050) - 5,156,548
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 10,679,405 42,332,125 5,309,700 8,002,162 - 66,323,392
FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR 13,564,338 46,612,415 4,164,075 $ 7,139,112 - 71,479,940
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the PACE Fund (the
Fund), a special revenue fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Fund’s basic financial
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 20, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund'’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Czc,dfu.@ L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023

20



EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

PACE Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota

and the Legislative Assembly
State of North Dakota
Bismarck, North Dakota
The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No

5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None
2. ldentify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

None

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. ldentify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. Identify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. ldentify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.
None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.
None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or

whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

Cic,éﬁ«/@ L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

September 20, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of the PACE Fund (the Fund) as of and for the year ended June 30,
2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 20, 2023. Professional standards require that we
advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional standards,
is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been prepared by
management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit of the financial statements does not
relieve you or management of its respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the Fund solely for the purpose of
determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our findings regarding significant control deficiencies over financial reporting and material

noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit in a separate letter to you dated September 20, 2023.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com

1730 Burnt Boat Loop, Ste. 100 | P.O. Box 1914 | Bismarck, ND 58502-1914 | T 701.255.1091 | F 701.224.1582 | EOE
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

There are no sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to financial statement users. There are no sensitive disclosures affecting
the financial statements.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. There were no corrected or uncorrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit
procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor’s report. No
such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated September 20, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and

accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, business conditions
affecting the entity, and business plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material
misstatement. None of the matters discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s
auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

@M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
And the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund (the Fund), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com

1730 Burnt Boat Loop, Ste. 100 | P.O. Box 1914 | Bismarck, ND 58502-1914 | T 701.255.1091 | F 701.224.1582 | EOE



Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
21, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund’s (the Fund) financial
performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022
and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09-47 to
provide loans to medical facilities to conduct construction that improves the health care infrastructure in the state
or improves access to existing nonprofit health care providers in the state.

There were no loans made by the Fund during the year ended June 30, 2023. There were no loans made by the Fund
during the year ended June 30, 2022. There was one new loan for $1,300 made by the Fund during the year ended
June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2023, there were eight loans outstanding totaling $42,567 with an allowance for loan
losses of $1,182 for net loans of $41,385.

There were two pending loan commitments totaling $8,150 as of June 30, 2023.

Funds available for investment in loans for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $9,322. The Fund is a Revolving
Fund and as principal and interest payments are made on existing loans, additional funds become available for new
loans.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and statement of cash
flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Fund, with the differences
between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position
identifies the operating performance of the Fund for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash
flows from operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to
such questions as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash
balance during the reporting period.

(continued on next page) 4



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,322 $ 7,043 $ 4,795
Loans, net 41,385 43,427 45,446
Interest receivable 24 25 29
TOTAL ASSETS S 50,731 $ 50,495 $ 50,270
LIABILITIES S 53 $ 56 $ 57
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 50,678 50,439 50,213
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION S 50,731 $ 50,495 $ 50,270
Loans

There were no new loans made during the fiscal year 2023. There were no new loans made during the fiscal year
2022. There was one new loan for $1,300 made during the fiscal year 2021. As of June 30, 2023, there are eight
loans outstanding totaling $42,567 with an allowance for loan losses of $1,182 for net loans of $41,385.

Liabilities

The only liability of the Fund is an administrative fee payable to the Bank.

(continued on next page) 5



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES $ 435 $ 455 $ 463
OPERATING EXPENSES 224 234 237
OPERATING INCOME 211 221 226
NONOPERATING REVENUES 28 5 5
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 239 226 231
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 50,439 50,213 49,982
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 50,678 $ 50,439 $ 50,213

Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. The interest rate established for the Fund has been set
at one percent.

Expenses

Other expenses include an administration fee paid to the Bank in the amount of one-half percent of any outstanding
loans and an independent audit of the financial records. For the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021
administrative fees totaling $218, $228 and $231 have been charged, respectively. There was no provision for loan
loss for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on the cash balance and investments.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

As of June 30, 2023, there were two pending loan commitments totaling $8,150. A recipient of a loan under the
Fund must complete the financed construction project within twenty-four months of approval of the loan. The loan

may not exceed the lesser of fifteen million dollars or seventy-five percent of the actual cost of the project, must
have an interest rate equal to one percent, and must provide a payment schedule of no longer than twenty-five years.

(continued on next page) 6



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-5509.



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 9,322 7,043
Loans, current portion 2,060 2,041
Interest receivable 24 25
Total current assets 11,406 9,109
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses
of $1,182 in 2023 and 2022 39,325 41,386
Total assets $ 50,731 50,495
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities $ 53 56
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 50,678 50,439
Total liabilities and net position $ 50,731 50,495

See Notes to Financial Statements



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on loans

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administrative fees
Other expenses

OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Investment income

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
$ 435 $ 455
218 228
6 6
211 221
28 5
239 226
50,439 50,213
$ 50,678 $ 50,439




MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of administrative fees to Bank of North Dakota
Payment of other expenses

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Proceeds from principal collections on loans

NET CASH PROVIDED BY
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET CHANGE IN CASH

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash used for operating activities
(Decrease) in due to Bank of North Dakota
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
221) (229)
(6) (6)
227) (235)
28 5
436 459
2,042 2,019
2,506 2,483
2,279 2,248
7,043 4,795
9,322 7,043
211 221
3) (1)
(435) (455)
(227) (235)
10



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 6-09-47 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan
Fund (the Fund), effective May 3, 2013. The purpose of the Fund is to provide loans to medical facilities to conduct
construction that improves the health care infrastructure in the State or improves access to existing nonprofit health
care providers in the state. The Bank of North Dakota administers the Fund and all loans made by the Fund. The
Fund was established by a fifty million dollar loan from the State of North Dakota’s Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund (SIIF).

The 2015 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2012 that made the Fund a revolving fund and eliminated
the repayment requirement to SIIF. All moneys transferred into the Fund, interest on moneys in the Fund, and
collections of principal and interest on loans from the Fund are appropriated to the Bank for Fund administration
on a continuing basis.

Loans made by the Fund may not exceed the lesser of fifteen million dollars or 75% of the actual cost of the project,
must have an interest rate equal to 1%, and must have a repayment schedule of no longer than 25 years. A recipient
of a loan under the Fund must complete the financed construction project within 24 months of approval of the loan.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Fund should include all component units over which the Fund exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Fund. The Fund is included as part of the
primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

(continued on next page) 11



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with customers within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit risk are
present in the construction and operation of medical facilities.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at a specific rate
of one percent on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the provisions for loan losses charged to operations are based on
management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of
the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 12



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS
Deposits

The carrying value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 was $9,322
and $7,043, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are
uncollateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North
Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. None of
the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are uncollateralized and all of the
deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-
09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of the Fund’s loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances
of loans are as follows:

2023 2022

Loans, current portion $ 2,060 $ 2,041

Loans, noncurrent portion 40,507 42,568

Total loans 42,567 44,609

Allowance for loan losses 1,182 1,182

Total loans, net $ 41.385 $ 43.427

Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:

Balance, June 30, 2021 S 46,628
Loan advances -
Principal collections (2,019)
Balance, June 30, 2022 44,609
Loan advances -
Principal collections (2,042)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 42,567

(continued on next page) 13



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in allowance for loan losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,182 $ 1,182
Provision for loan losses - -
Balance, end of year S 1,182 $ 1,182

There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2023. There were no loans on nonaccrual status and no loans 90 days
or more past due as of June 30, 2023.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash and time deposits are deposited
with the Bank of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent
of the outstanding loans. The Bank charged the Fund $218 and $228 for administrative fees during the years ended
June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of which the Fund owed the Bank $53 as of June 30, 2023 and $56 as of June
30, 2022.

NOTE 5 - LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to loan loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund follows
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments. There were

two pending loan commitments totaling $8,150 as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

(continued on next page) 14



MEDICAL FACILITY INFRASTRUCTURE LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250 per person and $1,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Medical Facility
Infrastructure Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
the Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund'’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that
have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Wasinternal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No

5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or
whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M At

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

September 21, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of the Medical Facility Infrastructure Loan Fund (the Fund)
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21,
2023. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our
audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated July 29, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimate affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Fund’s financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the the Fund’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 21, 2023.

23



Exhibit B-1, cont.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
And the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund (the Fund), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the
State of North Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and
do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022,
and the changes in its financial position, and where applicable, cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.



We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 16,
2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 16, 2023



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

The management discussion and analysis of the Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund’s (the Fund) financial
performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022
and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The North Dakota Legislature appropriated $50,000,000 for the Rebuilders Loan Fund during its Special Session
held in November 2011. The Industrial Commission approved the Rebuilders Loan Guidelines on November 21,
2011. The first $30,000,000 for this Fund was transferred from Bank of North Dakota’s undivided profits. The
remaining $20,000,000 was funded from the General Fund.

The purpose of this Fund is to help owners of homes damaged in the 2011 floods in Barnes, Benson, Burleigh,
McHenry, Morton, Ramsey, Renville, Richland, and Ward counties. Residents with flood-damaged homes that had
been granted a tax assessment reduction in 2011 were eligible to apply for a loan of up to $30,000 at a 1% interest
rate for 20 years. Payments were not required for 24 months; however, interest accrued during this time.
Applications were not accepted after September 30, 2012.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Rebuilders Loan Fund in its 2013 Session to include the rebuilding of
nonowner-occupied property and federal emergency management agency temporary housing units located in a
community-approved group housing site in the disaster-impacted community. There was no deferral of principal
and interest payments for a loan for nonowner-occupied property. Applications were not accepted after September
30,2013. A supplemental loan up to $20,000 may have been made to a homeowner who had received an initial loan
under certain conditions. Supplemental loan applications were not accepted after December 31, 2013.

After June 30, 2013, repayments to the Fund shall be transferred to replenish $30,000,000 of the Bank’s undivided
profits. On an annual basis, the Bank shall transfer repayments to the State Treasurer for deposit in the State General
Fund in any amount exceeding the $30,000,000 used to replenish the Bank’s undivided profits.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Fund in its 2019 Session to provide up to $3,750,000 from the principal
payments received to North Dakota residents affected by river flooding in the state in the winter and spring of 2019.
The application period was open until September 30, 2020.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Fund in its 2021 Session to create the Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund.
This Fund merged the SARS-CoV-2 Small Employer Loan Fund with the Rebuilders Loan Fund. All assets and
liabilities of the Small Employer Loan Fund were transferred to the Fund as of July 1, 2021.

The Small Employer Loan Fund was established by Bank of North Dakota to assist local financial institutions and
certified development corporations in providing loans to assist very small North Dakota businesses in their recovery
from the negative impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Fund is available to North Dakota businesses
with an employee count of 10 full-time equivalents or less. Eligible borrowers may use the proceeds to support
working capital needs, recurring expenses and replenish inventory. Additionally, the funds may be used to term out
COVID-19 related bridge loans or credit card debt originated on or after March 13, 2020, not to exceed 20% of the
maximum loan amount.

The Bank of North Dakota administers the loan Fund. The Bank deducts a one-half percent service fee for
administering the Fund for the Bank and originating financial institutions.
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REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

There were no loans made by the Fund in the fiscal year 2023. There were no loans made by the Fund in the fiscal
year 2022. There were three new loans made by the Fund for $180,000 during the fiscal year 2021. There were no
loans pending as of June 30, 2023.

There are currently 1,732 loans outstanding. As of June 30, 2023, the gross amount of outstanding loans is
$34,919,556 with an allowance for credit losses of $3,088,000 for net loans of $31,831,556. As of June 30, 2022,
the gross amount of outstanding loans is $41,386,945 with an allowance for credit losses of $3,662,000 for net loans
of $37,724,945. This includes $28,014,714 of loans transferred from Small Employer Loan Fund. As of June 30,
2021, the gross amount of outstanding loans is $20,989,729 with an allowance for credit losses of $2,099,000 for
net loans of $18,890,729.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and statement of cash flows.
The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Fund, with the differences between
the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies the
operating performance of the Fund for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows from
operating activities and investing activities and provides answers to such questions as where did the cash come
from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting period.

(continued on next page) 5



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(In Thousands)
2023 2022 2021
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash deposits $ 10,307 $ 6,555 443
Loans, current portion 4,223 4,425 1,707
Interest receivable 29 37 33
Total current assets 14,559 11,017 2,183
NONCURRENT ASSETS
Loans, noncurrent portion, net 27,609 33,301 17,183
Total noncurrent assets 27,609 33,301 17,183
Total assets S 42,168 $ 44,318 19,366
CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 35 $ 526 1,720
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 13,720 15,651 17,509
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 28,413 28,141 137
Total liabilities and net position $ 42,168 $ 44318 19,366

Cash Deposits

Cash deposits increased $3,751,563 from June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023 primarily due to principal repayments
from borrowers. Cash deposits increased $6,112,770 from June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022 primarily due to the
transfer of $1,807,992 from the Small Employer Loan Fund and additional payments received on loans transferred
from Small Employer Loan Fund. Cash deposits increased $108,796 from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021 primarily

due to principal repayments from borrowers.
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REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

Loans

There were no loans made during the fiscal year 2023. There were no loans made during the fiscal year 2022, with
$23,814,801 transferred from the Small Employer Loan Fund. There were three loans made during the fiscal year
2021 totaling $180,000. There were 38 delinquent loans as of June 30, 2023. There were $432,370 in loan charge-
offs and recoveries of $5,179 during 2023.

Noncurrent Liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities decreased $1.9 million from June 30, 2022 to June 30, 2023, decreased $3.1 million from
June 30, 2021 to June 30, 2022, and decreased $2.4 million from June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2021.

Net Position

North Dakota Legislative action in 2013 required that loan repayments received by the Fund first be used to
replenish the Bank’s undivided profits and then required all other loan repayments received to be transferred to the
State General Fund. Therefore, net position of the Fund is minimal and intended for payments of legal expenses
and an annual audit of the Fund. Net position increased in 2022 by $28,004,008 primarily due to the transfer of fund
balance from the Small Employer Loan Fund.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(In Thousands)
2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES $ 377 $ 441 $ 227
OPERATING EXPENSES 134 (20) (54)
OPERATING INCOME 243 461 281
NONOPERATING INCOME/(LOSS) 29 (28) (317)
TRANSFERS IN - 27,571 -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 272 28,004 (36)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,141 137 173
TOTAL NET POSITION END OF YEAR $ 28,413 § 28,141 $ 137

Revenue

Revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. The interest rate earned on these loans is 1%.

(continued on next page) 7



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

Expenses

The provision for credit loss was (146,808), ($345,198), and ($288,411) for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

Service fee expenses of $154,581, $180,740, and $225,106 have been recorded during the years ended June 30,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Administrative fee expenses of $110,238 and $130,452 were recorded during the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. No administrative fee expenses were recorded during the year ended June 30, 2021.

Other expenses are for the independent audit of the financial records and reimbursement to the Bank for legal
expenses for the Fund.

Non-Operating Income/(Loss)

During 2023, non-operating income consisted of interest accrued on cash. During 2022 and 2021, non-operating
loss consisted primarily of loss relating to reinstatement of debt for the increase in the liability to the State of North
Dakota General Fund.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

North Dakota Legislative action in 2013 required that loan repayments received by the Fund first be used to
replenish the Bank of North Dakota’s undivided profits and then required all other loan repayments received to be
transferred to the State General Fund. As of June 30, 2023, the Fund owed the Bank $0 and owed the General Fund
$13,720,102.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Fund in its 2019 Session to provide up to $3,750,000 from the principal
payments received to North Dakota residents affected by river flooding in the state in the winter and spring of 2019.
The application period was open until September 30, 2020.

Effective July 1, 2021, House Bill 1187 of the 2021 Legislative Session states the Bank shall transfer any
outstanding loans and other moneys in the rebuilders home loan and rebuilder loan Funds to the rebuilders
permanent loan fund. Principal and interest payments from the rebuilders and rebuilders home loans that are
transferred to the rebuilders permanent loan fund must be used to replenish the Bank’s undivided profits and to
repay the state general fund pursuant to section 3 of chapter 83 of the 2013 Session Laws and subsection 5 of section
20 of chapter 14 of the 2019 Session Laws. House Bill 1187 also states loans made as part of the small employer
loan fund established by the industrial commission to provide assistance during the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic shall
be transferred to the rebuilders permanent loan fund established under this Act. As of July 1, 2021, all transfers
have been completed.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-5509.



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota
Loans, current portion
Interest receivable
Total current assets
NONCURRENT ASSETS
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses

of $3,088,000 in 2023 and $3,662,000 in 2022

Total noncurrent assets

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to the Bank of North Dakota
Service fee payable

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to the State of North Dakota General Fund

Total noncurrent liabilities

NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED

See Notes to Financial Statements

Total assets

Total liabilities

Total liabilities and net position

2023 2022
10,307,071 6,555,508
4,222,765 4,424,788
29,562 37,264
14,559,398 11,017,560
27,608,791 33,300,157
27,608,791 33,300,157
42,168,189 44,317,717
29,252 519,851
5,403 6,513
34,655 526,364
13,720,102 15,650,134
13,720,102 15,650,134
13,754,757 16,176,498
28,413,432 28,141,219
42,168,189 44,317,717




REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on loans

OPERATING EXPENSES

Administrative Fee

Loan Fee

Service fees

Other expenses

Provision for credit loss
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Investment Income

NONOPERATING EXPENSES
Reinstatement of debt expense - State General Fund

NONOPERATING INCOME/(LOSS)
TRANSFERS IN
CHANGE IN NET POSITION

TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
377,617 440,991
110,238 130,452

- 1
154,581 180,740
16,271 13,471
(146,308) (345,198)
134,282 (20,534)
243,335 461,525
28,878 3,048
- (30,650)
28,878 (27,602)
- 27,570,085
272,213 28,004,008
28,141,219 137,211
28,413,432 28,141,219
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REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASHFLOWS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Administrative fees paid to Bank of North Dakota
Loan servicing fees refunded from (paid to) Bank of North Dakota
Service fees paid to Bank of North Dakota
Service fees paid to other banks
Payment of other expenses

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from Small Employer Loan Fund
Payment on Due to the General Fund
Payment on Due to the Bank of North Dakota

NET CASH USED FOR NON-CAPITAL
FUNDING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Loan advances
Proceeds from principal collections on loans

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash used for operating activities
Adjustment for provision for credit loss
Adjustment for previous year recovery
Change in administrative fee payable to BND
Change in loan servicing fees paid to BND
Change in service fee payable to outside lender
Change in service fee payable to BND
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH

INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITY
Reinstatement of debt expense - State General Fund

Transfer in of non-cash net assets from
Small Employer Loan Fund

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

(115,073) $  (135,714)
1,727 (610)
(84,831) (90,368)
(75,048) (88,909)
(16,272) (13,471)
(289,497) (329,072)

- 1,807,992
(1,930,032) -
(481,625) (3,116,039)
(2,411,657) (1,308,047)
28,878 3,048
385,318 462,145
- (150)
6,038,521 7,284,846
6,452,717 7,749,889
3,751,563 6,112,770
6,555,508 442,738
10,307,071 $ 6,555,508
243,335 $ 461,525
(146,308) (345,198)
1,727 -
(4,836) (5,261)

- (610)

(1,160) 2,728
(4,138) (1,265)
(377,617) (440,991)
(289,497) $ (329,072

- $ 30,650

- $ 26,196,016
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REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 6-09-46 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Rebuilders Loan Fund (the Fund). The
purpose of this Fund is to help owners of homes damaged in the 2011 floods in Barnes, Benson, Burleigh, McHenry,
Morton, Ramsey, Renville, Richland, and Ward counties. Residents with flood-damaged homes that had been
granted a tax assessment reduction in 2011 were eligible to apply for a loan of up to $30,000 at a 1% interest rate
for 20 years. Payments were not required for 24 months; however, interest accrued during this time. Applications
were not accepted after September 30, 2012.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Rebuilders Loan Fund in its 2013 Session to include the rebuilding of
nonowner-occupied property and federal emergency management agency temporary housing units located in a
community-approved group housing site in the disaster-impacted community. There was no deferral of principal
and interest payments for a loan for nonowner-occupied property. A supplemental loan up to $20,000 may have
been made to a homeowner who had received an initial loan under certain conditions. Applications were not
accepted after September 30, 2013. Supplemental loan applications were not accepted after December 31, 2013.

The North Dakota Legislature appropriated $50,000,000 for the Rebuilders Loan Fund during its Special Session
held in November 201 1. The first $30,000,000 for this Fund was transferred from Bank of North Dakota’s undivided
profits. The remaining $20,000,000 was transferred by the State of North Dakota’s General Fund.

After June 30, 2013, repayments to the Fund shall be transferred to replenish $30,000,000 of the Bank’s undivided
profits. On an annual basis, the Bank shall transfer repayments to the State Treasurer for deposit in the State General
Fund in any amount exceeding the $30,000,000 used to replenish the Bank’s undivided profits.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Fund in its 2019 Session to provide up to $3,750,000 from the principal
payments received to North Dakota residents affected by river flooding in the state in the winter and spring of 2019.
The application period was open until September 30, 2020.

The North Dakota Legislature amended the Fund in its 2021 Session to create the Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund.
This Fund merged the SARS-CoV-2 Small Employer Loan Fund with the Rebuilders Loan Fund. All assets and
liabilities of the Small Employer Loan Fund were transferred to the Fund as of July 1, 2021.

The Small Employer Loan Fund was established by Bank of North Dakota to assist local financial institutions and
certified development corporations in providing loans to assist very small North Dakota businesses in their recovery
from the negative impacts caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The Fund is available to North Dakota businesses
with an employee count of 10 full-time equivalents or less. Eligible borrowers may use the proceeds to support
working capital needs, recurring expenses and replenish inventory. Additionally, the funds may be used to term out
COVID-19 related bridge loans or credit card debt originated on or after March 13, 2020, not to exceed 20% of the
maximum loan amount.

The Bank administers the loan Fund and transfers the money appropriated for this Fund from its undivided profits.
The Bank deducts a service fee for administering the Fund for the Bank and originating financial institutions.

(continued on next page) 12



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus — an amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34, the Fund should include all component
units over which the Fund exercises such aspects as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing
body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide
specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that, no organizations were determined to be part of the reporting entity. The Fund is included as part of
the primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting entity.

Accounting Standards and Adoptions of Accounting Policies

The Fund follows the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), which is the
nationally accepted standard setting body for establishing generally accepted accounting standards for governmental
entities.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the balance sheet. Net position
is segregated into (1) net invested in capital assets, (2) restricted (distinguishing between major categories of
restrictions) and (3) unrestricted. The statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position present
increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases (e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statements of cash flows presents
the cash flows for operating activities, non-capital financing activities, capital, and related financing activities, and
investing activities.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with customers within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit risk are
present in the Fund.

(continued on next page) 13



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance less an allowance for credit losses. Interest income
on loans is accrued at a specific rate of 1% on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for credit losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for credit losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and the provisions for credit losses charged to operations are based
on management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation
of the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the Fund will be
unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the
loan agreement. Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral
value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Impairment is
measured on a loan-by-loan basis by either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s
effective interest rate, the loan’s obtainable market price, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral
dependent.

Loan Origination Fees

The Fund pays a loan origination fee of $250 or $500 per loan. Loan origination fees are expensed as incurred.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 14



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS

The carrying value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $10,307,071
and $6,555,508, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance, and all are
uncollateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North

Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. None of
the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are uncollateralized, and all of the
deposits are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section

6-09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Fund loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances of

loans are as follows:

Loans, current portion
Loans, noncurrent portion

Total loans
Allowance for credit losses

Total loans, net
Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:

Balance, June 30, 2021
Loans transferred in
Loan advances
Principal collections
Recoveries/(Charge-offs)

Balance, June 30, 2022
Loans transferred in
Loan advances
Principal collections
Recoveries/(Charge-offs)

Balance, June 30, 2023

(continued on next page)

2023

2022

4,222,765
30,696,791

4,424,788
36,962,157

34,919,556
(3,088,000)

41,386,945
(3,662,000)

31,831,556

37,724,945

20,989,729
28,014,714
150

(7,284,846)

(332,802)

41,386,945

(6,038,521)
(428,868)

34,919,556
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REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Changes in allowance for credit losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year 3,662,000 2,099,000
Allowance for Credit Losses Transferred in - 2,241,000
Provision for credit losses (146,809) (345,198)
Charge-offs (432,370) (333,353)
Recoveries 5,179 551
Balance, end of year S 3,088,000 $ 3,662,000

There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2023 and 2022. There were five loans on nonaccrual status as of June
30, 2023 and three loans as of June 30, 2022. There were 38 loans 90 days or more past due as of June 30, 2023
and 56 loans 90 days or more past due as of June 30, 2022.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota (the Bank). All cash accounts are deposited
in the Bank.

The North Dakota Legislature appropriated $50,000,000 for the Rebuilders Loan Fund during its Special Session
held in November 201 1. The first $30,000,000 for this Fund was transferred from Bank of North Dakota’s undivided
profits with the remaining $20,000,000 being transferred from the State of North Dakota’s General Fund.

During 2013, the North Dakota Legislature revised the Fund to require that after June 30, 2013, loan repayments
received by the Fund shall be transferred back to the Bank to replenish $30,000,000 of the Bank’s undivided profits.
As such, the Fund owed the Bank $0 and $481,625 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. In addition, the
legislation required that after the Bank’s undivided profits are replenished, any repayments received by the Fund
shall be transferred to the State Treasurer for deposit in the State General Fund after payment of Fund expenses. As
such, the Fund also owed the General Fund $13,720,102 and $15,650,134 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the decrease in the liability to the General Fund reflects
repayment from the Fund to the General Fund. During the year ended June 30, 2022, the increase in the liability to
the General Fund was reflected as reinstatement of debt expense in the amount of $30,650.

The Bank charged the Fund for operating expenses totaling $5,271 and $1,471 for the years ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively.

The Bank charged the Fund servicing fees totaling $80,694 and $89,103 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. The Fund owed the Bank $3,419 and $7,557 as of June 30, 2023, and 2022, respectively.

The Bank charged the Fund administrative fees totaling $110,238 and $130,452 for the years ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, respectively. The Fund owed the Bank $25,833 and $30,669 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(continued on next page) 16



REBUILDERS PERMANENT LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Effective July 1, 2021, House Bill 1187 of the 2021 Legislative Session states the Bank shall transfer any
outstanding loans and other moneys in the rebuilders home loan and rebuilder loan Funds to the rebuilders
permanent loan fund. Principal and interest payments from the rebuilders and rebuilders home loans that are
transferred to the rebuilders permanent loan fund must be used to replenish the Bank’s current earnings and
undivided profits and to repay the state general fund pursuant to section 3 of chapter 83 of the 2013 Session Laws
and subsection 5 of section 20 of chapter 14 of the 2019 Session Laws. House Bill 1187 also states loans made as
part of the small employer loan fund established by the industrial commission to provide assistance during the
SARS-CoV-2 pandemic shall be transferred to the rebuilders permanent loan Fund established under this Act. As
of July 1, 2021, the Fund transferred in $27,570,085 of net assets from the small employer loan fund.

NOTE 5 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund
contribution was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State
is limited to a total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Rebuilders
Permanent Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 16, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund'’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on
the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly,
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@’/éﬁa@ L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 16, 2023
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Elde Ballly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No

5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management'’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the auditor’s
overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or whether any
exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly related to the
operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is
the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

é"/ﬁ% L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 16, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit B-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
October 16, 2023

Governor of North Dakota

and the Legislative Assembly
State of North Dakota
Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Rebuilders Permanent Loan Fund (the Fund) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated October 16, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our findings regarding internal control over financial reporting and material
noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit in a separate letter to you date October 16,
2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Fundis included in Note 1 to the financial statements.
There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting
policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that would require us,
under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant
unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging
areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current
judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for credit losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the key
factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for credit losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the ’s
financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us
to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant
classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole.
Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially
cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the uncorrected
misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There were no
corrected or uncorrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing
matter, which could be significant to the Fund’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such
disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated October 16, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations
with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and
operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters
discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Addiction Counselor Internship Loan Program (the
Program), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Program, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the
respective changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Controller General of the United States. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the State
of North Dakota, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Program are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in
its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
20, 2023 on our consideration of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting and on our
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the Program’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

The management discussion and analysis of the Addiction Counselor Internship Loan Program’s (the Program)
financial performance provides an overview of the Program’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2023, 2022, and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Program.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Addiction Counselor Internship Loan Program was established by North Dakota Century Code Section
43-45-05.4 for the purpose of providing loans to qualified individuals participating in a paid or unpaid internship at
a licensed substance abuse treatment facility in North Dakota in order to obtain licensure as an addiction counselor.

There were no loans made during the year ended June 30, 2023, one loan totaling $7,500 made during the year
ended June 30, 2022, and three loans totaling $22,500 made during the year ended June 30, 2021. There were no
pending applications as of June 30, 2023. At June 30, 2023, the gross amount of outstanding loans was $72,369
with an allowance for loan losses of $3,601 for net loans of $68,768.

Funds available for investment in loans for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $116,820.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Program is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include
the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position, and statement of
cash flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Program, with the
differences between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position identifies the operating performance of the Program for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows
identifies cash flows from operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides
answers to such questions as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in
the cash balance during the reporting period.

(continued on next page) 4



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans, net
Interest receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Loans

2023 2022 2021
116,820 105,698 95,922
68,768 78,066 91,596
923 1,370 616
186,511 185,134 188,134
186,511 185,134 188,134
186,511 185,134 188,134

There were no loans made during the fiscal year 2023, there was one loan totaling $7,500 made during the fiscal
year 2022, and three loans totaling $22,500 made during the fiscal year 2021. As of June 30, 2023, there are fourteen

loans outstanding totaling $72,369 with an allowance for loan losses of $3,601 for net loans of $68,768.

Net Position

Net position of the Program was $186,511, $185,134 and $188,134 as of June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

(continued on next page)



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES $ 4364 3 2938 3,229
OPERATING EXPENSES 3,348 6,010 5,950
OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS) 1,016 (3,072) (2,721)
NONOPERATING REVENUES 361 72 90
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,377 (3,000) (2,631)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 185,134 188,134 190,765
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 186,511  $ 185134  $ 188,134

Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. The interest rate on outstanding loans accrues at the
Bank of North Dakota’s current base rate but may not exceed an annual rate percentage of 6%. Bank of North Dakota’s
current base rate at June 30, 2023 was 8.25%.

Expenses
There was ($2,834) provision for loan loss during the year ended June 30, 2023. There was no provision for loan
loss during the years ended June 30, 2022, and 2021. The reversal in provision for the year ended June 30,2023 was

the result of a decreasing loan portfolio. The only other expense of the Program is an annual independent audit of
the financial records.

Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on the cash and cash equivalents.

(continued on next page) 6



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

As of June 30, 2023, there were no pending loan applications. Loans made by the Program may not exceed seven
thousand five hundred dollars, must accrue at the Bank’s current base rate, but may not exceed six percent annually,
and must have a repayment schedule of no longer than ten years.

CONTACTING THE PROGRAM’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Program’s finances and to demonstrate the Program’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any
questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509,
Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5509.



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 116,820 $ 105,698
Loans, current portion 13,699 3,938
Interest receivable 923 1,370
Total current assets 131,442 111,006
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of
$3,601 in 2023 and $6,435 in 2022 55,069 74,128
Total assets $ 186,511 $ 185,134
LIABILITIES $ - $ -
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 186,511 185,134
Total liabilities and net position $ 186,511 $ 185,134

See Notes to Financial Statements



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on loans $ 4,364 $ 2,938
OPERATING EXPENSES

Audit expenses 6,182 6,010

Provision for loan loss (2,834) -
OPERATING INCOME/(LOSS) 1,016 (3,072)
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 361 72
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,377 (3,000)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 185,134 188,134
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 186,511 $ 185,134

See Notes to Financial Statements



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of audit expenses

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Proceeds from principal collections on loans
Loans advanced

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING (LOSS) TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income/(loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income/(loss)
to net cash used for operating activities
Adjustment for provision for loan loss
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
6,182 $ (6,010)
(6,182) (6,010)

361 72
3,268 1,717
13,675 21,497
- (7,500)
17,304 15,786
11,122 9,776
105,698 95,922
116,820 $ 105,698
1,016 $ (3,072)
(2,834) ;
(4,364) (2,938)
6,182) S (6,010)
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ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 43-45-05.4 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Addiction Counselor Internship
Loan Program (the Program), effective July 1, 2015. The purpose of the Program is to provide loans to qualified
individuals participating in a paid or unpaid internship at a licensed substance abuse treatment facility in North
Dakota in order to obtain licensure as an addiction counselor. The Bank of North Dakota administers the Program
and all loans made by the Program.

The Program was established by a two hundred thousand dollar transfer from the North Dakota Student Loan Trust.
All monies transferred into the fund, interest upon monies in the fund, and payments to the fund of principal and
interest on loans are appropriated to the Bank of North Dakota for Program administration on a continuing basis.

Loans made by the Program may not exceed seven thousand five hundred dollars, must accrue at the Bank of North
Dakota’s current base rate, but may not exceed six percent, and must have a repayment schedule of no longer than
ten years.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Program should include all component units over which the Program exercises such
aspects as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its
will on that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose
specific financial burdens on, the Program.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Program. The Program is included as part
of the primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Program is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

(continued on next page) 11



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Program’s business is with customers within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit risk are
present in the Program.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Program considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at Bank of North
Dakota’s current base rate, not to exceed six percent, on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Program uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the provisions for loan losses charged to operations are based on
management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of
the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Program has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 12



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Deposits

The carrying value and bank balance of the Program’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $116,820 and
$105,698, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are
uncollateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North
Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Program will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Program does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for
deposits. None of the Program’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Program’s deposits are
uncollateralized and all of the deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of
North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Program loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances of
the loans are as follows:

2023 2022

Loans, current portion $ 13,699 $ 3,938
Loans, noncurrent portion 58,670 80,563

Total loans 72,369 84,501

Allowance for loan losses (3,601) (6,435)
Total loans, net $ 68,768 $ 78,066
Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:

Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 98,031

Loan advances 7,500

Capitalized interest 467

Principal Collections (21,497)
Balance, June 30, 2022 84,501

Loan advances -

Capitalized interest 1,543

Principal Collections (13,675)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 72,369

(continued on next page) 13



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Changes in the allowance for loan losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 6435 $ 6,435
Provision for loan losses (2,834) -
Balance, end of year $ 3,601 $ 6,435

There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2023. There were no loans on nonaccrual status and no loans 90 days
or more past due as of June 30, 2023.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Program is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All monies transferred into the Program,
interest upon monies in the Program, and payments to the Program of principal and interest on loans are appropriated
to the Bank for Program administration on a continuing basis. All cash accounts are deposited with the Bank of
North Dakota.

NOTE 5 - LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Program is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Program’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Program
follows the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments.

There were no pending loan applications as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

(continued on next page) 14



ADDICTION COUNSELOR INTERNSHIP LOAN PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Program is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Program is
administered by the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the
State for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Addiction
Counselor Internship Loan Program (the Program), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Program’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated September 20, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Program’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to
be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Program’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Program'’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Addiction Counselor Internship Loan Program
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to
determine those estimates.

Management'’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation
of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. ldentify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or
whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Program and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

Cic,éﬁ«/@ L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 20, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
September 20, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Addiction Counselor Internship Loan Program ( the
Program) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated
September 20, 2023. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters
relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Program solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated September 20, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Program is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimate affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Program’s financial statements relate to: Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Program’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Program. They do not purport to, and do not,
present fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the
changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect
to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 20, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Program, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as Program’s auditors.
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the program and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly:

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
And the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund'’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
21, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That reportis an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund’s (the Fund) financial
performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022
and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09-49 for the
purpose of providing loans to political subdivisions for essential infrastructure projects. Eligible infrastructure
projects may include new or replacement of existing water treatment plants, wastewater treatment plants, sewer
lines and water lines, and storm water and transportation infrastructure, including curb and gutter construction.

There were eighteen loans originated for $37,571 with $16,360 advanced on these loans during the year ended June
30, 2023. There were twelve loans originated for $39,445 with $7,941 advanced on these loans during the year
ended June 30, 2022 There were twelve loans originated for $17,271 with $7,079 funds advanced on these loans
during the year ended June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2023, there were eighty-eight loans outstanding for $136,998
with an allowance for credit losses of $1,712, for net loans of $135,286.

There were fifteen loan commitments for $124,838 as of June 30, 2023.
Funds available for investment in loans as of June 30, 2023 were $20,647.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position, and statement of cash
flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Fund, with the differences
between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies
the operating performance of the Fund for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows from
operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to such questions
as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the
reporting period.
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INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,647 $ 20,804 $ 24,772

Loans, net 135,286 109,025 101,369

Interest receivable 842 777 750
TOTAL ASSETS $ 156,775 $ 130,606 $ 126,891
LIABILITIES $ 165 $ 138 $ 128
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 156,610 130,468 126,763
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION S 156,775 $ 130,606 $ 126,891

Loans

There were eighteen loans made during the fiscal year 2023, twelve loans made during the fiscal year 2022, twelve
loans made during the fiscal year 2021. As of June 30, 2023, there are eighty-eight loans outstanding totaling
$136,998 with an allowance for credit losses of $1,712 for net loans of $135,286.

Net Position
All monies transferred to the Fund, interest upon monies in the Fund, and payments to the Fund of principal and

interest are appropriated to the Bank on a continuing basis for administrative costs and for loan disbursements. Net
position of the Fund at June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $156,610, $130,468, and $126,763, respectively.
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INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

OPERATING REVENUES $ 2,420 $ 2,196 2,094
OPERATING EXPENSES 951 648 583
OPERATING INCOME 1,469 1,548 1,511
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 75 13 22
INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 1,544 1,561 1,533
TRANSFERS

Transfers from Legacy Bond Fund 24,598 2,144 -
NET TRANSFERS 24,598 2,144 -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 26,142 3,705 1,533
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 130,468 126,763 125,230
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 156,610 $ 130,468 126,763

Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. A loan made from the Fund must have an interest rate

that does not exceed two percent.

Expenses

The provision for credit loss was $332 for the year ended June 30, 2023, $95 for the year ended June 30, 2022, and
§55 for the year ended June 30, 2021. The provision in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was due to loan volume and provides
an allowance for potential credit losses. Other expenses include an administration fee paid to Bank of North Dakota
in the amount of one-half percent of any outstanding loans and an independent audit of the financial records. For
the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021 administration fees totaling $613, $547, and $522 have been charged,

respectively.

(continued on next page)



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022 AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

Nonoperating Revenue
Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on cash and cash equivalents.
Transfers

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Fund received $24,598 in transfers from Legacy Bond Fund. For the year
ended June 30, 2022, the Fund received $2,144 in transfers from Legacy Bond Fund. For the year ended June 30,
2021, the Fund did not receive any transfers.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

There were fifteen outstanding commitments to extend credit for $124,838, as of June 30, 2023. The term of the
construction and permanent financing period may not exceed 30 years. Loans made by the Fund may not exceed
fifteen million dollars and must have an interest rate that does not exceed two percent. House Bill 1443 of the 2015
Legislative Session authorized the Bank of North Dakota to transfer up to $100,000, or so much of the sum as may
be necessary. As of June 30, 2023, the Fund has up to $52,000 available for transfer.

House Bill 1014 of the 2019 Legislative Session authorized the Office of Management and Budget to transfer up to
$40,000 during the biennium beginning July 1, 2019, and ending June 30, 2021 from the Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund contingent of any oil and gas tax revenues exceeding $755,000 during the period August 1,
2017, through July 31, 2019. In August of 2019, the Strategic Investment and Improvements Fund transferred
$25,138 into the Fund.

House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized Legacy Bond Fund proceeds issued by the Public
Finance Authority to be appropriated to the Bank of North Dakota for allocation of up to $50,000 to the Fund during
the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. Effective July 1, 2021 all notes made must have
an interest rate that does not exceed two percent per year. As of June 30, 2023, the Fund has transferred $26,742.

Senate Bill 2330 of the 2023 Legislative Session authorized up to $150,000 of Legacy funds to be used to purchase
loans from the Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-5509.



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,647 $ 20,804
Loans, current portion 11,792 5,992
Interest receivable 842 777
Total current assets 33,281 27,573
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses
of $1,712 in 2023 and $1,380 in 2022 123,494 103,033
Total assets $ 156,775 $ 130,606
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities $ 165 $ 138
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 156,610 130,468
Total liabilities and net position $ 156,775 $ 130,606

See Notes to Financial Statements



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on loans $ 2,420 $ 2,196
OPERATING EXPENSES

Administrative fees 613 547

Other expenses 6 6

Provision for credit loss 332 95

Total Operating Expenses 951 648

OPERATING INCOME 1,469 1,548
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 75 13
INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 1,544 1,561
TRANSFERS IN

Transfers from Legacy Bond Fund 24,598 2,144
NET TRANSFERS IN 24,598 2,144
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 26,142 3,705
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 130,468 126,763
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 156,610 $ 130,468

See Notes to Financial Statements



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of administrative fees to Bank of North Dakota
Payment of other expenses

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from Legacy Bond Fund

NET CASH FROM NON-CAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Loans advanced
Proceeds from principal collections on loans

NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash used for operating activities
Adjustment for provision for credit loss
Increase in due to Bank of North Dakota
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
(586) (537)
(6) 6
(592) (543)
24,598 2,144
24,598 2,144
75 13
2,355 2,169
(34,644) (14,584)
8,051 6,833
(24,163) (5,569)
(157) (3,968)
20,804 24,772
20,647 20,804
1,469 1,548
332 95
27 10
(2,420) (2,196)
(592) (543)
10



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 6-09-49 of the North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) established the Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund
(the Fund), effective July 1, 2015. The purpose of the Fund is to provide loans to political subdivisions for essential
infrastructure projects. Eligible infrastructure projects may include new or replacement of existing water treatment
plants, wastewater treatment plants, sewer lines and water lines, storm water and transportation infrastructure,
including curb and gutter construction, and other infrastructure needs as established by the Bank of North Dakota.
The Bank administers the Fund and all loans made by the Fund.

House Bill 1443 of the 2015 Legislative Session authorized a transfer of $50,000 from the Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund (SIIF) to the Fund. It also authorized the Bank of North Dakota to transfer the sum of $100,000,
or so much of the sum as may be necessary, from the Bank’s current earnings and undivided profits to the Fund.
All monies transferred to the Fund, interest upon monies in the fund, and payments to the fund of principal and
interest are appropriated to the Bank on a continuing basis for administrative costs and for loan disbursement. As
of June 30, 2023, the fund has up to $52,000 available for transfer.

House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized Legacy Bond Fund proceeds issued by the Public
Finance Authority to be appropriated to the Bank of North Dakota for allocation of up to $50,000 to the Fund during
the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2023, the fund transferred $26,742.

Loans made by the Fund may not exceed fifteen million dollars, must have an interest rate that does not exceed two
percent, and must have a repayment schedule that does not exceed thirty years. Effective July 1, 2021, loans made
by the Fund must have an interest rate starting at two percent per year and increasing by one percent every five
years, up to a maximum rate of five percent as enacted by House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Fund should include all component units over which the Fund exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific

financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Fund. The Fund is included as part of the
primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

(continued on next page) 11



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with political subdivisions within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit
risk are present in the Fund.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at a specific rate
not to exceed two percent on the unpaid principal balance. Effective July 1, 2021 all notes made must have an
interest rate that does not exceed two percent per year.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for credit losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for credit losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and the provisions for credit losses charged to operations are based
on management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent credit loss experience, continuous evaluation
of the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

(continued on next page) 12



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Deposits

The value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $20,647 and $20,804,
respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are uncollateralized. These
monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section
6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. None of
the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are uncollateralized and all of the
deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-
09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Fund loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances of
loans are as follows:

2023 2022
Loans, current portion $ 11,792 $ 5,992
Loans, noncurrent portion 125,206 104,413
Total loans 136,998 110,405
Allowance for credit losses 1,712 1,380
Total loans, net $ 135,286 $ 109,025

(continued on next page) 13



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:

Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 102,654
Loan advances 14,584
Principal collections (6,833)

Balance, June 30, 2022 110,405
Loan advances 34,644
Principal collections (8,051)

Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 136,998

Changes in allowance for credit losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,380 $ 1,285
Provision for credit losses 332 95
Balance, end of year $ 1,712 $ 1,380

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

House Bill 1443 of the 2015 Legislative Session created the Fund and authorized a transfer from the Strategic
Investment and Improvements Fund of $50,000 as well as a transfer of up to $100,000, or so much of the sum as
may be necessary from the Bank of North Dakota. As of June 30, 2023, the Bank of North Dakota has transferred
$48,000 to the Fund.

House Bill 1014 of the 2019 Legislative Session authorized the Office of Management and Budget to transfer up to
$40,000 during the biennium beginning July 1, 2019, and ending June 30, 2021 from the Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund contingent of any oil and gas tax revenues exceeding $755,000 during the period August 1,
2017, through July 31, 2019. In August of 2019, the Strategic Investment and Improvements Fund transferred
$25,138 into the Fund.

House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized Legacy Bond Fund proceeds issued by the Public
Finance Authority to be appropriated to the Bank of North Dakota for allocation of up to $50,000 to the Fund during
the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023. Effective July 1, 2021 all notes made must have
an interest rate starting at two percent per year and increasing by one percent every five years, up to a maximum
rate of five percent. As of June 30, 2023, the Fund transferred $26,742.

(continued on next page) 14



INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited with the
Bank of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent of the
outstanding loans. The Bank charged the program $613 and $547 for administration fees during the year ended June
30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of which the Fund owed the Bank $165 as of June 30, 2023 and $138 as of June 30,
2022.

NOTE 5 - LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund
follows the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments.
There were fifteen outstanding commitments for $124,838 to extend credit as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250 per person and $1,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Infrastructure
Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that
have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?

There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management’s estimate of the allowance for credit losses is based on management’s evaluation
of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for credit losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or
whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M At

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

September 21, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated July 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimate affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
equality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Fund’s financial statements relates to Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the the Fund’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

CZ,M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
And the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund
(the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023
and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the State
of North Dakota, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
11, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 11, 2023



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund’s (the Fund)
financial performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ending June 30,
2023, 2022, and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section
15.1-36 for the purpose of providing low-interest school construction loans. The board of a school district may
propose a new construction or remodeling project with a cost of at least one million dollars and an expected
utilization of at least thirty years. Loan applications are reviewed and approved by the superintendent of public
instruction.

There were five loans originated for $40,870 with $17,820 advanced on these loans as well as $16,955 in loan
purchases from the Bank during the year ended June 30, 2023. There were no loans originated with $15,158 in loan
purchases from the Bank during the year ended June 30, 2022. There were no loans originated with $22,137 in loan
purchases from the Bank during the year ended June 30, 2021.

There were six loan commitments for $43,420 as of June 30, 2023.
Funds available for investment in loans as of June 30, 2023 were $38,104.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position, and statement of cash
flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Fund, with the differences
between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies
the operating performance of the Fund for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows from
operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to such questions
as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the
reporting period.

(continued on next page) 4



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 38,104 $ 50,227 $ 47,077

Interest receivable 1,564 1,517 1,396

Loans, net 274,002 258,425 259,221
TOTAL ASSETS $ 313,670 $ 310,169 $ 307,694
LIABILITIES $ 349 $ 332 $ 333
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 313,321 309,837 307,361
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION $ 313,670 $ 310,169 $ 307,694

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents represent funds available for investment in loans. The decrease from 2022 to 2023 is
primarily due to loan advances and transferred loans. The increase from 2021 to 2022 is primarily due to loan
payments received.

Loans

As of June 30, 2023, there were 56 loans outstanding totaling $276,770 with an allowance for loan losses of $2,768
for net loans of $274,002. As of June 30, 2022, there were 48 loans outstanding totaling $261,043 with an allowance
for loan losses of $2,618 for net loans of $258,425. As June 30, 2021, there were 45 loans outstanding totaling
$261,839 with an allowance for loan losses of $2,618 for net loans of $259,221.

Net Position
All monies transferred to the Fund, interest upon moneys in the Fund, and payments to the Fund of principal and

interest are appropriated to the Bank on a continuing basis for administrative costs and for loan disbursements. Net
position of the Fund as of June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $313,321, $309,837, and $307,361 respectively.

(continued on next page) 5



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES $ 4888  $ 4843  $ 4,656
OPERATING EXPENSES 1,492 1,346 1,508
OPERATING INCOME 3,396 3,497 3,148
NONOPERATING REVENUES 127 29 48
INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 3,523 3,526 3,196
NET TRANSFERS (OUT) (39) (1,050) (1,300)
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 3,484 2,476 1,896
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 309,837 307,361 305,465
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 313,321 $ 309837 $ 307,36l

Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. A loan made from the Fund must have an interest rate
that does not exceed two percent.

Expenses

Administrative expenses were $1,334, $1,338, and $1,295 for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021,
respectively. This expense is paid to the Bank of North Dakota for administration of the Fund in the amount of one-
half percent of outstanding loans. The provision for loan loss was $150, $0, and $205 for the years ended June 30,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. Other expenses include an independent audit of the financial records.

Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on cash and cash equivalents.

(continued on next page) 6



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

Transfers

The 2019 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2214 to transfer the sum of $75,000 from the Foundation
Aid Stabilization fund. During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Fund received $75,000. In addition, Bank of North
Dakota may utilize funding from School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund to repay up to $5,000, or
so much of the sum as may be necessary, to provide the Bank of North Dakota with interest rate buydowns
associated with the Bank’s on-balance-sheet school construction loans. During the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, the Fund transferred a total of $39, $1,050, and, $1,300, respectively, to the Bank.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

As of June 30, 2023, there were six outstanding commitments for $43,420. The maximum loan amount to which a
school district is entitled is $10,000 with a term of twenty years and interest rate not to exceed two percent.

The 2021 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2014 that allows Bank of North Dakota to utilize funding
from School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund to repay up to $2,500, or so much of the sum as may
be necessary, to provide the Bank of North Dakota with interest rate buydowns associated with the Bank’s on-
balance-sheet school construction loans. In addition, subject to sufficient funding being available for loans to local
school districts Bank of North Dakota may utilize funding from the school construction assistance revolving loan
fund to repay a portion of the outstanding principal balance of the loans issued under section 15.1-36-06 for the
purpose of transferring a portion of the loans issued under that section from the Bank of North Dakota to the school
assistance revolving loan fund, for the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2284 to transfer the sum of $75,000 from the Foundation
Aid Stabilization Fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2023 and ending June 30, 2025. The full $75,000
was transferred in July of 2023.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-55009.



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 38,104 $ 50,227
Loans, current portion 23,696 19,674
Interest receivable 1,564 1,517
Total current assets 63,364 71,418
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses
of $2,768 in 2023 and $2,618 in 2022 250,306 238,751
Total noncurrent assets 250,306 238,751
Total assets 313,670 310,169
Total assets and deferred outflows $ 313,670 $ 310,169
LIABILITIES $ 349 $ 332
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 313,321 309,837
Total liabilities and net position $ 313,670 $ 310,169

See Notes to Financial Statements



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on loans

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administrative fees
Other expenses
Provision for loan loss

OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Investment income

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS

NET TRANSFERS (OUT)
Transfer to Bank of North Dakota

CHANGE IN NET POSITION
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
$ 4,888 $ 4,843
1,334 1,338

8 8

150 -

3,396 3,497

127 29

3,523 3,526
(39) (1,050)

3,484 2,476

309,837 307,361

$ 313,321 $ 309,837




SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of administrative fees to the Bank of North Dakota
Payment of other expenses

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfer to Bank of North Dakota

NET CASH FROM NON-CAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Proceeds from principal collections on loans
Loans advanced
Purchase of loans from Bank of North Dakota

NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash used from operating activities
Adjustment for provision for loan loss
Increase/(Decrease) in due to Bank of North Dakota
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
1317y % (1,339)
@®) ®)
(1,325) (1,347)
(39 (1,050)
(39 (1,050)
127 29
4,841 4,722
19,048 16,214
(17,820) (260)
(16,955) (15,158)
(10,759) 5,547
(12,123) 3,150
50,227 47,077
38,104 $ 50,227
3,396 $ 3,497
150 -
17 (1)
(4,888) (4,843)
(1,325) $ (1,347)
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SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 15.1-36 of the North Dakota Century Code established the School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan
Fund (the Fund). The purpose of the Fund is to provide low-interest school construction loans. The board of a school
district may propose a new construction or remodeling project with a cost of at least one million dollars and an
expected utilization of at least thirty years. Loan applications are reviewed and approved by the superintendent of
public instruction. The Bank administers the Fund and all loans made by the Fund.

All moneys transferred to the Fund, interest upon moneys in the Fund, and repayments of principal and interest are
appropriated to the Bank on a continuing basis for administrative costs and loan disbursement.

Loans made by the Fund may not exceed ten million dollars, must have an interest rate that does not exceed two
percent, and must have a repayment schedule that does not exceed twenty years.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Fund should include all component units over which the Fund exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Fund. The Fund is included as part of the
primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all
assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position. Net
position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The statement
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases (e.g., expenses)
in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities, non-capital
financing activities, and investing activities.

(continued on next page) 11



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with political subdivisions within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit
risk are present in the Fund.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at a specific rate
not to exceed two percent on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the provisions for loan losses charged to operations are based on
management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of
the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 12



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS
Deposits

The carrying value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits was $38,104, and $50,227 at June 30, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are uncollateralized.
These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC
Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for
deposits. None of the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are
uncollateralized and all of the deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of
North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Fund loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balance of loans
are as follows:

2023 2022
Loans, current portion $ 23,696 $ 19,674
Loans, noncurrent portion 253,074 241,369
Total loans 276,770 261,043
Allowance for loan losses 2,768 2,618
Total loans, net $ 274,002 $ 258,425
Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:
Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 261,839
Purchase from Bank of North Dakota 15,158
Loan advances 260
Principal collections (16,214)
Balance, June 30, 2022 261,043
Purchase from Bank of North Dakota 16,955
Loan advances 17,820
Principal collections (19,048)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 276,770

(continued on next page) 13



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in allowance for loan losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of period $ 2,618 $ 2,618
Provision for loan losses 150 -
Balance, end of year $ 2,768 $ 2,618

There were no impaired loans, no loans on nonaccrual status, and no loans 90 days or more past due as of June 30,
2023.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited with the
Bank of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent of
the outstanding loans. Administration fees of $1,334 and $1,338 were charged during 2023 and 2022, of which
$349 and $332 was due to the Bank as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Senate Bill 2214 of the 2019 North Dakota Legislature states that Office of Management and Budget shall transfer
the sum of $75,000 from the Foundation Aid Stabilization Fund to the Fund during the period beginning July 1,
2019 and ending June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2020, the Foundation Aid Stabilization Fund has transferred in the
total of $75,000. In addition, Bank of North Dakota may utilize up to $5,000, or so much of the sum as may be
necessary, of funding from School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund to provide the Bank with interest
rate buydowns. During the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Fund transferred a total of $39 and $1,050,
respectively, to the Bank. Bank of North Dakota may also utilize funding from the Fund to purchase existing loans
originated by the Bank under Section 15.1-36-06. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Fund purchased, $16,955 and
$15,158, respectively, from Bank of North Dakota.

Senate Bill 2014 of the 2021 North Dakota Legislature states that Bank of North Dakota may utilize up to $2,500,
or so much of the sum as may be necessary, of funding from School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund
to provide the Bank with interest rate buydowns. In addition, subject to sufficient funding being available for loans
to local school districts Bank of North Dakota may utilize funding from the school construction assistance revolving
loan fund to repay a portion of the outstanding principal balance of the loans issued under section 15.1-36-06 for
the purpose of transferring a portion of the loans issued under that section from the Bank of North Dakota to the
school assistance revolving loan fund, for the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023.

The 2023 North Dakota Legislature passed Senate Bill 2284 to transfer the sum of $75,000 from the Foundation

Aid Stabilization Fund during the biennium beginning July 1, 2023 and ending June 30, 2025. The full $75,000
was transferred in July of 2023.

(continued on next page) 14



SCHOOL CONSTRUCTION ASSISTANCE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 5 - LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to loan loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund follows
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments. There were
six outstanding commitments for $43,420 as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250 per person and $1,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the School
Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North
Dakota, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated September 11, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund'’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 11, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

School Construction Assistance Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Wasinternal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management'’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the auditor’s
overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or whether any
exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly related to the
operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is
the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M At

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 11, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
September 11, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of School Construction Assistance Revolving Loan Fund (the
Fund) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated
September 11, 2023. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters
relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding a significant control deficiency during our audit in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards dated September 11, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimate affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Fund’s financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the the Fund’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 11, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Government of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the COVID-19 PACE Loan Program (the Program), a special
revenue fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Program, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the
Program, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Program are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Program. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Program’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 5,
2023 on our consideration of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Program’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Program’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

szc/&@ur”

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 5, 2023



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The purpose of the COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program is to assist local financial institutions in providing low
interest loans and grants to support North Dakota businesses in their economic recovery due to negative impacts
from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The North Dakota Emergency Commission approved federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(CARES) Act dollars of up to $200 million to be utilized for interest rate buydowns in May of 2020. In September
0f 2020, the North Dakota Budget Commission reduced the original commitment of $200 million to $50 million to
be used between the two programs, CPR I and CPR II. An additional $20 million was approved to be used between
the CPR I and CPR II programs in October of 2020 by the North Dakota Budget Commission. Applications were
accepted through November 30, 2020 for both the CPR T and CPR 1I programs. The program received $0, $6,100,
and $63,604,824 in the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and June 30, 2021, respectively.

COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program loans are made by a lead lender in participation with Bank of North Dakota.
There were no loans originated during the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022. There were 227 loans
originated for $267,680,496 during the year ended June 30, 2021. Currently there are 240 loans outstanding. The
total principal outstanding is $229,658,876 of which BND participates in $148,715,784. The remaining amount of
buydown interest to be paid by this Fund on these loans is $11,906,457. The program is no longer accepting
applications. There are no pending loan commitments.

COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program grants were funded to businesses with a location in North Dakota and that
were current on all financial obligations as of March 13, 2020. To qualify the applicant must have sustained a
minimum 20% year-over-year gross revenue loss between April 1, 2019 to September 30, 2019 when compared to
the same period in 2020. No grant expenditures were disbursed during the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30,
2022. Total grant expenditures of $35,584,051 were disbursed to 812 applicants during the year ended June 30,
2021.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of
accounting. The basic financial statements include the balance sheet and the statement of revenues, expenditures
and changes in fund balances. The balance sheet provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Program, with the
differences between the two reported as fund balance. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balance identifies the operating performance of the Program for the year.

(continued on next page) 4



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

BALANCE SHEETS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS
Cash deposits S - - 1,282,720
Cash deposits for buydown committed 11,906,457 19,515,480 28,178,889
TOTAL ASSETS $ 11,906,457 19,515,480 29,461,609
LIABILITIES $ - - -
FUND BALANCE 11,906,457 19,515,480 29,461,609
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE $ 11,906,457 19,515,480 29,461,609

Cash Deposits
Cash deposits (not restricted) represents available funds.

Cash Deposits for Restricted Buydowns

Cash deposits for restricted buydowns represents reserved funds that are held by the Bank of North Dakota to buy
down the interest for qualifying loans. Cash deposits for restricted buydowns decreased by $7,609,023 and
$8,663,409 in the years ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively, due to buydown expensed.

Fund Balance

The Fund Balance represents funds available to the Program. Fund balance of the program as of June 30, 2023,

2022, and 2021 was $11,906,457, $19,515,480, and $29,461,609, respectively.

(continued on next page)



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
REVENUES $ -8 - -
EXPENDITURES 7,609,023 8,679,409 40,141,101
EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES (7,609,023) (8,679,409) (40,141,101)
TRANSFERS IN - 6,100 63,604,824
TRANSFERS (OUT) - (1,272,820) -
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (7,609,023) (9,946,129) 23,463,723
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 19,515,480 29,461,609 5,997,886
FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR $ 11,906,457 S 19515480 $ 29.461,609

Expenditures

The monies that are being paid to the Bank of North Dakota to buy down the interest rate for qualifying loans are
paid in advance and are amortized over the life of the loans based upon the repayment terms of the individual
qualifying loan. Interest expenditures increased due to the short-term offering of the program and the volume of
loans. Grant expenditures disbursed through the CPR II Program.

Transfers In/Out

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Office of Management and Budget transferred $0 into the Program and the
Program returned $0 in unspent COVID Relief Funding dollars back to Office of Management and Budget. For the
year ended June 30, 2022, the Office of Management and Budget transferred $6,100 into the Program and the
Program returned $1,272,820 in unspent COVID Relief Funding dollars back to Office of Management and Budget.
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Office of Management and Budget transferred $63,604,824 into the Program.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

The North Dakota Emergency Commission approved federal CARES Act dollars of up to $200 million to be utilized
for interest rate buydowns. In September of 2020, the North Dakota Budget Commission reduced the original
commitment of $200 million to $50 million to be used between the two programs, CPR I and CPR II. An additional
$20 million was approved to be used between the CPR I and CPR II programs in October of 2020 by the North
Dakota Budget Commission.

(continued on next page) 6



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

CONTACTING THE PROGRAM’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers and creditors with a general overview of the
Program’s finances and to demonstrate the Program’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any
questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509,
Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5509.



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
BALANCE SHEETS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
2023 2022

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota - -

Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota for restricted buydowns 11,906,457 19,515,480
TOTAL ASSETS 11,906,457 19,515,480
LIABILITIES - -
FUND BALANCE

Restricted 11,906,457 19,515,480
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 11,906,457 19,515,480

See Notes to Financial Statements




COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

REVENUES
EXPENDITURES
Buydown interest
Grant Expenditures
Other Expenses
EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER REVENUES
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfers (out)
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
- $ -
7,609,023 8,663,409
: 16,(500
(7,609,023) (8,679,409)
- 6,100
- (1,272,820)
(7,609,023) (9,946,129)
19,515,480 29,461,609
11,906,457 $ 19,515,480




COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The COVID-19 PACE Recovery Program (the Program) was created to assist local financial institutions in
providing low interest loans and grants to support North Dakota businesses in their economic recovery due to
negative impacts from the COVID-19 pandemic. The Bank of North Dakota supervises and administers the
Program.

Borrowers eligible through CPR I included a person or entity whose business was located in North Dakota, had
the capacity or history of showing it can service debt prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the local lender
determined that the borrower’s business has incurred economic injury as a result of the pandemic. Proceeds may
be used to support working capital needs or term out COVID-19 related bridge loans or credit card debt originated
on or after March 13, 2020. This amount may not exceed 20% of the maximum loan amount. For businesses of
500 or fewer employees, the maximum loan amount was the lesser of $5,000,000 or six months of operating
expenses plus interest. For businesses of 501 employees or more, the maximum loan amount was the lesser of
$10,000,000 or six months of operating expenses plus interest. The Bank of North Dakota’s participation
percentage may not exceed 80% nor be less than 50% of the total loan. The Program then buys down the interest
rate of the loan to 1%.

Grantees eligible through the CPR II included businesses with a location in North Dakota and that were current on
all financial obligations as of March 13, 2020. To qualify the applicant must have sustained a minimum 20%
year-over-year gross revenue loss between April 1, 2019 to September 30, 2019 when compared to the same
period in 2020. The maximum amount of buydown is the total of eligible interest expense accrued by a qualifying
applicant between April 1, 2020 and September 30, 2020 or $50,000, whichever is less. Buydown received from
other BND buydown programs shall be excluded from eligible interest.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus, the Program should include all component units over which the Program exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Program.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the reporting entity. The Program is included as
part of the primary government of the State of North Dakota’s (State) reporting entity.

Accounting Standards
The Program follows the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which is the

nationally accepted standard setting body for establishing generally accepted accounting standards for governmental
entities.

(continued on next page) 10



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Fund Accounting

The Program is a special revenue fund and uses the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e. measurable and available). Measurable
means the amount of the transaction can be determined. Available means due and collectible within the current period
or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. The State has defined available as being
collected within one year.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. Special
revenue funds are accounted for using the current financial resources measurement focus. With this measurement
focus, generally only current assets and current liabilities are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements for
these funds present increases (e.g., revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (e.g., expenditures and other
financing uses) in net current assets.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Program has entered into commitments to buy down interest rates on loans.
Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Fund Balance Classifications

Governmental funds classify fund balance based on the constraints imposed on the uses of these resources. The
spendable portion of the fund balance consists of committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by the North Dakota State Legislature — the government’s
highest level of decision-making authority. These restricted amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless
it meets the requirements of the grantors or laws and regulations of other governments; or through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. This classification also includes contractual obligations to the extent that
existing resources in the fund have been specifically restricted for use in satisfying those contractual requirements.

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS

The carrying value and bank balance of the Program’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $0 and $0. Of
the bank amounts, none were insured or collateralized with securities held by the entity or its agent in the entity’s
name; none were collateralized with securities held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent in the entity’s
name; and all were either collateralized with securities held by the counterparty or by its trust department or agent
but not in the entity’s name, or collateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are
guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Program will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Program does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for
deposits. The Program’s deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North
Dakota (NDCC Section 06-09-10).

(continued on next page) 11



COVID-19 PACE RECOVERY PROGRAM
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

NOTE 3 - CASH DEPOSITS AT BANK OF NORTH DAKOTA FOR RESTRICTED BUYDOWNS

The monies that are being held by the Bank of North Dakota to buy down the interest rate for qualifying loans are
paid in advance. Buydown interest is amortized over the life of the loans based upon the repayment terms of the
individual qualifying loan. In the event of prepayment or default on qualifying loans, the full approved buydown
interest will be awarded to the qualifying loan.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Program is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited in the
Bank of North Dakota. In lieu of an administrative fee, the Bank of North Dakota does not pay interest to the
Program on the cash accounts held at the Bank of North Dakota. Interest buydowns amortized into interest expense
totaled $7,609,023 and $8,663,409 in 2023 and 2022, of which approximately 65% accrued to the Bank of North
Dakota.

The Program also has on deposit with the Bank of North Dakota monies used to fund the interest buydowns on
qualifying loans, which is included in “cash deposits for buydowns committed” on the balance sheet (see Note 3).

The North Dakota Emergency Commission approved federal CARES Act dollars of up to $200 million to be utilized
for interest rate buydowns. In September of 2020, the North Dakota Budget Commission reduced the original
commitment of $200 million to $50 million to be used between the two programs, CPR I and CPR 1I. An additional
$20 million was approved to be used between the CPR I and CPR II programs in October of 2020 by the North
Dakota Budget Commission. For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Office of Management and Budget transferred
$0 into the Program and the Program returned $0 in unspent COVID Relief Funding dollars back to Office of
Management and Budget. For the year ended June 30, 2022, the Office of Management and Budget transferred
$6,100 into the Program and the Program returned $1,272,820 in unspent COVID Relief Funding dollars back to
Office of Management and Budget.

NOTE 5 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Program is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Program is
administered by the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the state
for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Program with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the COVID-19 PACE
Loan Program (the Fund), a special revenue fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 5, 2023.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
over financial reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these
limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that
have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1 — cont.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

&Mu%

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 5, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

COVID-19 PACE Loan Program
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No

5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
Yes

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com 15
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None
2. ldentify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

None

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. ldentify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. Identify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. ldentify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.
None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.
None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the auditor’s
overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or whether any

exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly related to the
operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is
the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

é@/&% L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 5, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
September 5, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
And the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of COVID-19 PACE Loan Program (the Program) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 5, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Program solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding a significant control deficiency during our audit in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards dated September 5, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments. No such significant accounting estimates were identified.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to financial statement users. There were no financial statement disclosures
that we consider to be particularly sensitive or involve significant judgement.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Program’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Program are intended to present the financial
position and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the State of North Dakota that is
attributable to the transactions of the Program. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the
financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes in its
financial position for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 5, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and

accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Program’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of The Program and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

@M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Innovation Technology Loan Fund (the Fund), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards (Government Auditing Standards), issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
21, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the Innovation Technology Loan Fund’s (the Fund) financial
performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022
and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Innovation Technology Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09.18 for the
purpose of providing financing for commercialization of intellectual property within the State of North Dakota.
Industries eligible for loans include advanced computing and data management, agriculture technology,
autonomous and unmanned vehicles and related technology, energy, health care, value-added agriculture, value-
added energy, and any other industry or area identified by the committee that will contribute to the diversification
of the state’s economy.

There were ten new loans for $7,099 with advances totaling $4,894 made by the Fund during the year ended June
30, 2023. There were fifteen new loans for $8,980 with advances totaling $7,823 made by the Fund during the year
ended June 30, 2022. There were ten new loans for $6,590 with advances totaling $8,092 made by the Fund during
the year ended June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2023, the gross amount of outstanding loans is $22,600 with an
allowance for loan losses of $3,390 for net loans of $19,210.

There were two pending loan commitments totaling $2,500 as of June 30, 2023 compared to five pending loan
commitments totaling $4,249 as of June 30, 2022.

Funds available for investment in loans for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $6,971.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in fund net position, and statement of cash
flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Fund, with the differences
between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies
the operating performance of the Fund for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows from
operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to such questions
as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the
reporting period.

(continued on next page) 4



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,971 $ 12,029 $ 1,514

Loans, net of allowance for loan loss 19,210 16,821 12,714

Interest receivable 8 - -
TOTAL ASSETS $ 26,189 $ 28,850 $ 14,228
LIABILITIES S 28 $ 20 $ 16
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 26,161 28,830 14,212
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION $ 26,189 $ 28,850 $ 14,228
Loans

There were ten new loans for $7,099 with advances totaling $4,894 made during the year ended June 30, 2023.
There were fifteen new loans for $8,980 with advances totaling $7,823 made during the year ended June 30, 2022.
As of June 30, 2021, there were ten new loans for $6,590 with advances totaling $8,092. As of June 30, 2023, there
are forty-one loans outstanding totaling $22,600 with an allowance for loan losses of $3,390 for net loans of
$19,210.

Liabilities

The only liability of the Fund is an administrative fee payable to the Bank.

Net Position

Net position of the Fund was $26,161, $28,830, and $14,212 as of June 30 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

(continued on next page) 5



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021
OPERATING REVENUES $ 17 $ - $ -
OPERATING EXPENSES 2,711 391 498
OPERATING LOSS (2,694) (391) (498)
NONOPERATING REVENUES 25 9 4
LOSS BEFORE TRANSFERS (2,669) (382) (494)
TRANSFERS IN - 15,000 5,000
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,669) 14,618 4,506
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,830 14,212 9,706
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 26,161 $ 28,830 $ 14,212

Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. The interest rate established for the Fund is zero percent
for the first three years of the loan, two percent for the next two years of the loan, and an interest rate equal to a standard
Bank of North Dakota loan for all subsequent years.

Expenses

Operating expenses consist primarily of provision for loan loss of $2,505 for fiscal year 2023. For years ended June
30,2022 and 2021, the provision for loan loss was $216 and $404. Other expenses include administration fees paid
to the Bank of North Dakota and Department of Commerce, as well as an annual audit of the financial statements
of the Fund. Administrative expenses for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $103, $72, and $52,
respectively.

Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on the cash balance and investments.

(continued on next page) 6



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(Dollars in Thousands)

Transfers In

House Bill 1333 of the 2019 Legislative Session created the Fund and appropriated up to $15,000 in transfers from
the Bank of North Dakota, of which the bank had transferred $5 million into the Fund as of June 30, 2021 and $10
million into the Fund as of June 30, 2020.

House Bill 1141 of the 2021 Legislative Session created the Fund and appropriated up to $15,000 in transfers from
the Office of Management and Budget, of which they had transferred $15 million into the Fund as of June 30, 2022.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

As of June 30, 2023, there were two pending loan commitments. House Bill 1018 of the 2023 Legislative Session
authorized the Office of Management and Budget to transfer up to $10,000 during the biennium beginning July 1,
2023, and ending June 30, 2025. During the year ended June 30, 2023, no funds have been transferred to the Fund.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-5509.



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans, current portion
Interest receivable
Total current assets
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses

of $3,390 in 2023 and $885 in 2022

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

Total liabilities and net position

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
6,971 12,029
2,707 5,524

8 ;
9,686 17,553
16,503 11,297
26,189 28,850
28 20
26,161 28,830
26,189 28,850




INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES S 17 -
OPERATING EXPENSES

Administrative fees to Bank of North Dakota 103 72

Administrative fees to Department of Commerce 103 103

Provision for loan loss 2,505 216
OPERATING LOSS (2,694) (391)
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 25 9
NONOPERATING INCOME 25 9
LOSS BEFORE TRANSFERS (2,669) (382)
TRANSFERS

Transfers from Office of Management and Budget - 15,000
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,669) 14,618
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,830 14,212
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 26,161 28,830

See Notes to Financial Statements



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of operating expenses
Payment of administrative fees to Bank of North Dakota

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers from Office of Management and Budget

NET CASH FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Proceeds from principal collections on loans
Loans advanced

NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash used for operating activities
Adjustment for provision for loan loss
Increase in due to Bank of North Dakota
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
(103) (171)
95) -
(198) (171)

- 15,000

- 15,000

25 9

9 -

- 3,500
(4,894) (7,823)
(4,860) (4,314)
(5,058) 10,515
12,029 1,514
6,971 12,029
(2,694) (391)
2,505 216
8 4

17 -
(198) (171)
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INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The Innovation Technology Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code (NDCC) Section 6-09.18
for the purpose of providing financing for commercialization of intellectual property within the State of North
Dakota. Industries eligible for loans include advanced computing and data management, agriculture technology,
autonomous and unmanned vehicles and related technology, energy, health care, value-added agriculture, value-
added energy, and any other industry or area identified by the committee that will contribute to the diversification
of the state’s economy. The Fund was established with a fifteen million dollar appropriation from the Bank of North
Dakota.

Loans made by the Fund must have an interest rate of zero percent for the first three years of the loan, two percent
for the next two years of the loan, and an interest rate equal to a standard Bank of North Dakota loan for all
subsequent years.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Fund should include all component units over which the Fund exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Fund. The Fund is included as part of the
primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

(continued on next page) 11



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with customers within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit risk are
present in the Fund.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Loans made by the Fund must have an interest rate
of zero percent for the first three years of the loan, two percent for the next two years of the loan, and an interest
rate equal to a standard Bank of North Dakota loan for all subsequent years.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the provisions for loan losses charged to operations are based on
management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of
the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 12



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS
Deposits

The carrying value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 and 2022 were $6,971 and
$12,029, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are uncollateralized.
These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC
Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. None of
the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are uncollateralized and all of the
deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-
09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of the Fund’s loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances
of loans are as follows:

2023 2022
Loans, current portion $ 2,707 $ 5,524
Loans, noncurrent portion 19,893 12,182
Total loans 22,600 17,706
Allowance for loan losses 3,390 885
Total loans, net S 19,210 $ 16,821
Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:
Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 13,383
Loan advances 7,823
Principal collections (3,500)
Balance, June 30, 2022 17,706
Loan advances 4,894
Principal collections -
Balance, June 30, 2023 S 22,600

(continued on next page) 13



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in allowance for loan losses are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year $ 885 $ 669
Provision for loan losses 2,505 216
Balance, end of year $ 3,390 $ 885

There were two impaired loans as of June 30, 2023. There was one loan on nonaccrual status and no loans 90 days
or more past due as of June 30, 2023.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash and time deposits are deposited
with the Bank of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent
of the outstanding loans. The Bank charged the Fund $103 for administrative fees during the year ended June 30, 2023,
of which the Fund owed the Bank $28 as of June 30, 2023. The Bank charged the Fund $72 for administrative fees
during the year ended June 30, 2022, of which the Fund owed the Bank $20 as of June 30, 2022.

House Bill 1018 of the 2023 Legislative Session authorized the Office of Management and Budget to transfer up to
$10,000 during the biennium beginning July 1, 2023, and ending June 30, 2025 from the Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund. During the year ended June 30, 2023, no funds have been transferred into the Fund.

House Bill 1141 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized the Office of Management and Budget to transfer up to
$15,000 during the biennium beginning July 1, 2021, and ending June 30, 2023 from the Strategic Investment and
Improvements Fund. During the year ended June 30, 2022, $15 million had been transferred into the Fund.

NOTE 5- LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to loan loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund follows
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments. There were

two pending loan commitments for $2,500 as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

(continued on next page) 14



INNOVATION TECHNOLOGY LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250 per person and $1,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.

15



EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Innovation
Technology Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.

16
What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com

1730 Burnt Boat Loop, Ste. 100 | P.O. Box 1914 | Bismarck, ND 58502-1914 | T 701.255.1091 | F 701.224.1582 | EOE



Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Innovation Technology Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No

What inspires you, inspires us. | eidebailly.com 18
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management'’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or
whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M At

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS
September 21, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Innovation Technology Loan Fund (the Fund) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding a significant control deficiency during our audit in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
fund’s financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.

22



Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Funds’s financial statements or the auditor’s report.
No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the North Dakota Student Loan Trust (the Trust), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, and
the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Trust, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Trust,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Trust are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Trust. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the Trust. The combining statements of net position and combining statements of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the combining statements of net position and combining statements
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 2,
2023 on our consideration of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Trust’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

@M;fgr‘)

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021

(In Thousands)

The discussion and analysis of the financial performance of the North Dakota Student Loan Trust (Trust) that
follows is meant to provide additional insight into the Trust’s activities for the years ended June 30, 2023, 2022,
and 2021. Please read it in conjunction with the Trust’s financial statements and footnotes, which are presented
within this report.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

Section 54-17-24 of the North Dakota Century Code authorized the establishment of the North Dakota Student
Loan Trust. On June 27, 1979, the Commission adopted the North Dakota Student Loan Revenue Bonds General
Bond Resolution establishing the North Dakota Student Loan Trust fund. On June 19, 1996, the Commission
adopted the Second General Bond Resolution and the First Supplemental Resolution to the North Dakota Student
Loan Revenue Bonds - Second General Bond Resolution. The purpose of the Trust is to provide loans to students
in post-secondary education. The Trust acquires eligible loans insured or guaranteed, respectively, by the United
States government or the North Dakota Guaranteed Student Loan Program. All guaranteed loans and the
collections and earnings therefrom are pledged as collateral to the outstanding bonds of the respective trusts.

DEAL loans are available at either a fixed rate or a variable rate with the rates being adjusted quarterly. As of July
1, 2023, the fixed rate was 6.53% and the variable rate was 6.72%. As of July 1, 2022, the fixed rate was 6.15%
and the variable rate was 3.50%. As of July 1, 2021, the fixed rate was 3.90% and the variable rate was 1.62%.

The Trust 2023 statement of net position indicates that the Trust continues to have adequate resources to provide for
bond repayment and continuing operations. There are $1,780 of current assets available to meet the next fiscal year’s
obligations of approximately $6. The net loss in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position is a
result of the changing rate environment.

REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The management discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the Trust’s financial
statements. The Trust is accounted for utilizing fund accounting and includes the requirements of 1) the
General Bond Resolution Fund and 2) the Second General Bond Resolution Fund. Note 1 to the financial
statements provides a description of the organization, funds and significant accounting policies. The financial
statements of the Trust provide accounting information similar to that of many other business entities. The
Statement of Net Position summarizes the assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as
net position. It also serves as the basis for analysis of the soundness and liquidity of the Trust. The Statement of
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position summarizes the Trust’s operating performance for the year.
The Statement of Cash Flows summarizes the flow of cash through the Trust as it conducts its business.

(continued on next page) 4



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021

(In Thousands)

2023 2022 2021
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED $ 8 $ 9 $ 6
CURRENT ASSETS - RESTRICTED 1,772 1,816 1,724
NONCURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED 434 409 492
TOTAL ASSETS $ 2,214 $ 2,234 $ 2,222
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 6 $ 3 $ 2
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 1,000 1,000 1,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,006 1,003 1,002
NET POSITION
RESTRICTED FOR DEBT SERVICE 772 816 724
UNRESTRICTED 436 415 496
TOTAL NET POSITION 1,208 1,231 1,220
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION $ 2,214 $ 2,234 $ 2,222

(continued on next page) 5



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021

(In Thousands)

Significant Statement of Net Position Changes

Total assets of the Trust decreased ($20) in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in loans receivable. Total assets
of the Trust increased $12 in 2022, primarily due to interest earned on student loans. Total assets of the Trust
decreased $26 in 2021, primarily due to the decrease earned on student loans.

There were no new bonds issued in 2023, 2022, or 2021. No principal payments were made during the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, or 2021.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments

Trust cash, cash equivalents and investments, which are included in restricted assets, are restricted for the debt
service of bond issues for the General Bond Resolution and Second General Bond Resolution purposes listed in
Note 1 to the financial statements.

Trust cash, cash equivalents and investments, which are included in unrestricted assets, are unrestricted within
the Trust for the overall uses of the General Bond Resolution and Second General Bond Resolution purposes
listed in Note 1 to the financial statements.

Student Loans Receivable

The student loans receivable are included in current and noncurrent assets of the statement of net position. As of
June 30, 2023, all student loans are insured by the North Dakota Guaranteed Student Loan Program (GSL). All
guaranteed loans and the collections and earnings therefrom are pledged as collateral to the outstanding bonds of
the respective trusts. Additional discussion can be found in Notes 1 and 4 to the financial statements.

Appropriation Payable

North Dakota Legislature did not pass any legislation impacting the Trust in the 2019 or 2021 sessions.
Administration expenses of $96 were paid to the Industrial Commission for the biennium beginning July 1, 2019,
and ending June 30, 2021. As of June 30, 2021, $96 has been transferred to the Industrial Commission.

Bonds Payable

The Trust has issued bonds in order to facilitate the purchase of student loans. The bonds payable are included in
the current and noncurrent liabilities of the preceding statement. The bonds are direct obligations of the Trust and
are secured by student loans purchased under the applicable resolutions, interest earnings and certain accounts
established pursuant to the applicable bond resolutions. Note 5 to the financial statements provides a detailed
listing of all the bonds outstanding.

Net Position
The Restricted Net Position of the North Dakota Student Loan Trust is restricted by bond resolutions for the
repayment of bond interest and principal. Monies held in surplus accounts can be used to redeem or purchase

bonds, finance student loans, or upon certification from the Industrial Commission of North Dakota, fund a
guarantee agency's guarantee program.

(continued on next page) 6



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021

(In Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

2023 2022 2021

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on student loans $ 30 $ 35 $ 44
Total operating revenues 30 35 44

OPERATING EXPENSES
Interest 46 10 8
Service fees 4 5 7
Other 10 10 10
Total operating expenses 60 25 25
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (30) 10 19
NONOPERATING REVENUE 7 1 3
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (23) 11 22
TRANSFERS - - -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (23) 11 22
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1,231 1,220 1,198
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 1,208 $ 1,231 $ 1,220

Note 1 to the financial statements contains discussion of several of the various operating revenue and expense
items pertaining to the Trust.

Special Allowance and Interest Subsidy

Prior to the Federal loan sale, the U.S. Department of Education provided a special allowance, which was a
subsidy to lenders participating in the Guaranteed Student Loan Program. Also, the U.S. Department of Education
paid the Trust the interest earned on subsidized student loans from the date of inception until the end of the grace
or deferment period. All Federal student loans were sold in October of 2017.

Transfers

No transfers were made during the fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021.

(continued on next page) 7



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021

(In Thousands)

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

There was no legislation impacting the Trust during the 2021 or 2023 Legislative Sessions. The Trust continues to have
adequate cashflow from student loan repayments to meet its future obligations.

CONTACTING THE NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The information in this report is intended to provide the reader with an overview of the Trust’s operations along
with the Trust’s accountability for those operations. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this
report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the North Dakota Industrial
Commission, North Dakota Student Loan Trust, 600 East Boulevard Avenue, Department 405, Bismarck, ND
58505-0840.
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Due from other state agencies
Interest receivable
Total unrestricted current assets
CURRENT ASSETS - RESTRICTED
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Student loans receivable
Total restricted current assets

NONCURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Student loans receivable

Total assets

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
7 9
1 -
8 9
713 677
1,000 1,000
59 139
1,772 1,816
434 409
2214 2,234




NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - Page 2

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to other state agencies
Accrued fees payable - related party

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonds payable

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
NET POSITION
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

5 1

1 2

6 3
1,000 1,000
1,000 1,000
1,006 1,003
772 816
436 415
1,208 1,231
2,214 2,234
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022
(In Thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on student loans

Total operating revenues
OPERATING EXPENSES
Interest
Service fees
Administration fees
Bond related expenses
Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

NONOPERATING REVENUE
Investment income

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS
TRANSFERS - STATE AGENCIES

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
30 $ 35
30 35
46 10
4 5
1 1
9 9
60 25
(30) 10
7 1
(23) 11
(23) 11
1,231 1,220
1,208 $ 1,231
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts of student loan repayments
Payments to state agency service providers
Payments to other service providers

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Bond interest payments
Transfer to North Dakota Industrial Commission

NET CASH USED FOR
NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investment interest received

Purchase of investment securities

Proceeds from sale and

maturity of investment securities

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

87 165
Q) (6)
) ®

73 150
(43) ©)
(43) &)

6 1
(2,000) (2,000)
2,000 2,000

6 1

36 142
677 535
713 677
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — Page 2

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

2023 2022
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)
TO NET CASH FROM/USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) $ (30) $ 10
Reclassification of interest income
and expense to other activities 44 9
Changes in assets and liabilities
Student loans receivable 55 133
Due from other state agencies 2 3)
Interest receivable (1) -
Due to other state agencies 4 1
Accrued fees payable - related party (1) -
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 73 $ 150

See Notes to Financial Statements 13



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

Section 54-17-24 of the North Dakota Century Code authorized the establishment of the North Dakota Student
Loan Trust (Trust). On June 27, 1979, the Commission adopted the North Dakota Student Loan Revenue Bonds
General Bond Resolution establishing the North Dakota Student Loan Trust fund. On June 19, 1996, the
Commission adopted the Second General Bond Resolution and the First Supplemental Resolution to the North
Dakota Student Loan Revenue Bonds - Second General Bond Resolution. The purpose of the Trust is to provide
loans to students in post-secondary education. The Trust acquires eligible loans insured or guaranteed,
respectively, by the United States government or the North Dakota Guaranteed Student Loan Program. All
guaranteed loans and the collections and earnings therefrom are pledged as collateral to the outstanding bonds of
the respective trusts.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Trust should include all component units over which the Trust exercises such
aspects as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body and (2) has the ability to impose
its will on that organization or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or
impose specific financial burdens on the Trust.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the reporting entity. The Trust is included as
part of the primary government in the State of North Dakota's reporting entity.

Accounting Standards and Adoptions of Accounting Policies

The Trust follows the pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, which is the nationally
accepted standard setting body for establishing generally accepted accounting principles for governmental
entities.

Fund Accounting

The North Dakota Student Loan Trust consists of a trust fund, which is a separate accounting entity accounted for as an
enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The fund is set up in accordance with the authorizing act, the
bond resolutions and indenture. The fund consists of the First General Bond Resolution Fund, which includes the 2004
A student loan revenue bonds and the Second General Bond Resolution Fund. Proceeds of bonds are recorded in the
fund and used to provide student loans to eligible students. The bond resolutions require the establishment of certain
accounts and sub-accounts. Bond proceeds that are deposited in these accounts are invested in qualifying investments.
Interest income, interest expense, special allowance and interest subsidy, and gain on redemption of bonds are recorded
in this fund in accordance with the bond resolutions.

(continued on next page) 14



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement
focus, all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the Trust are included on the statement of net
position. Net position is segregated into restricted and unrestricted components. The statement of revenues,
expenses and changes in net position present increases (e.g. revenues) and decreases (e.g. expenses) in net total
position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities, non-capital financing
activities, and investing activities.

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

Most of the Trust’s activities are with student loan borrowers in the State of North Dakota.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Trust considers all cash and time deposit accounts with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
and cash equivalents for purposes of reporting cash flows.

Deposits and Investments

Time deposits are carried at cost, as they are nonnegotiable certificates of deposits with redemption terms that do
not consider market rates. Investment securities are carried at market value. Unrealized gains and losses due to
fluctuations in market value are included in investment income.

Restricted Assets and Restricted Net Position

The assets and net position of the North Dakota Student Loan Trust are restricted by bond resolutions for the
repayment of bond interest and principal.

Moneys held in surplus accounts (which are classified as unrestricted on the statement of net position) can be used
to redeem or purchase bonds, finance student loans, or upon certification from the Industrial Commission of
North Dakota (the Commission), fund a guarantee agency's guarantee program.

Expenses of the Trust are paid in accordance with the provisions of the General and Second General Bond
Resolutions and the Series Resolutions. Expenses related to a specific bond series are paid from funds available
within that particular resolution. When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and
unrestricted net position is available, the Trust considers restricted funds to have been spent first.

(continued on next page) 15



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on loans and the related special allowance and interest subsidies
related to the loans. All other revenues that do not meet the above criteria are classified as non-operating.

NOTE 2 - UNRESTRICTED NET ASSETS

The assets and net position of the North Dakota Student Loan Trust are restricted by bond resolutions for the
repayment of bond interest and principal.

As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the surplus accounts consist of the following:

2023 2022
Due from other state agencies $ 7 $ 9
Interest receivable 1 -
Accrued fees payable - related party )] 2)
Due to other state agencies 5) H
Student loans receivable 434 409
$ 436 $ 415

NOTE 3 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

All funds have their monies invested in securities or deposits allowed by the General Bond Resolution
establishing the Trust and the Second General Bond Resolution. Such moneys may be invested in: (1) direct
obligations of or obligations guaranteed by the United States of America, (2) deposits of the Bank of North
Dakota which are guaranteed as provided in North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09-10, (3) demand deposits
and time deposits issued by banks, which are members of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, (4) bonds,
debentures, or notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by any agency or instrumentality of
the United States of America, (5) repurchase agreements or reverse repurchase agreements with banks, which are
secured by securities which are obligations described in item (1) above, and (6) banker’s acceptances of banks
described in items (2) and (3) above.

Deposits
As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the Trust had cash deposits of $713 and $677, respectively, with the Bank of North
Dakota. The Trust also had time deposits of $1,000 and $1,000, respectively, with the Bank. For classification

purposes on the Statement of Net Position, cash and cash equivalents were $713 and $677, respectively, and
investments were $1,000 and $1,000 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

(continued on next page) 16



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Trust will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Trust does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for
deposits. None of the Trust’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Trust’s deposits are
uncollateralized and all of the deposits are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State
of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

NOTE 4 - STUDENT LOANS RECEIVABLE

The Trust has outstanding loans with annual fixed and variable interest rates. DEAL student loans are fully
guaranteed by the North Dakota Guaranteed Student Loan Program, so there is no allowance for loan loss. Loan
balances as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 total $493 and $548, respectively, with $59 and $139 designated as current
assets.

Student loans are classified as student, deferred, repayment or claim status. The student status represents the
period from the date the loan is made until a student is out of school, plus an authorized grace period. Deferred
status represents a loan that has an authorized deferment of payment period. Repayment status indicates the loan
is in repayment. Claim status represents those loans that have a claim filed with the guarantor.

As of June 30, 2023, there were zero in deferred status and $493 in repayment status. As of June 30, 2022, there
were $58 in deferred status and $490 in repayment status. The change in deferment statuses was due to borrowers
being offered up to eighteen-months of disaster deferment to reduce the financial burden of the COVID-19
pandemic.

NOTE 5 - BONDS PAYABLE

Changes in Bonds Payable

The following is a summary of the changes in bonds payable for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,000 $ 1,000
Principal payments on bonds - -
Balance, end of year $ 1,000 $ 1,000
Amounts due within one year $ - $ -

(continued on next page) 17



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

Maturities of Bonds Payable

The combined aggregate of future maturities and sinking fund requirements for all bonds is as follows:

Year Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total

2024 $ - $ 55 $ 55
2025 - 55 55
2026 - 55 55
2027 - 55 55
2028 - 55 55
2029 1,000 54 1,054

$ 1,000 $ 329 $ 1,329

The following is a more detailed description of the individual bond issue that remains outstanding as of June 30,
2023 and 2022.

Maturity Interest
Dates Rate 2023 2022
General Bond Resolution Fund
2004 Series A June 1, 2029 5.87% 1 $ 1,000 $ 1,000
Less current portion - -
Noncurrent portion $ 1,000 $ 1,000

(1) Variable on June 30, 2023.

2004 SERIES A BONDS

Interest is payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year. The 2004 Series A Bonds are variable
rate bonds. The rate of interest is determined based on one-month SOFR plus 0.7%. The maximum rate of interest
is 12% per annum. Details of the terms and provisions of the variable rate bonds are outlined in Section 2.1 of the
Fourth Supplemental Resolution to the State of North Dakota Student Loan Revenue Bonds First General Bond
Resolution. Section 2.2 of the Fourth Supplemental Resolution to the State of North Dakota Student Loan
Revenue Bonds First General Bond Resolution has deemed these to be Federally Taxable Bonds. The Series 2004
Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the Commission from any source of funds, in
whole or in part, on any date at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest to
date of redemption.

(continued on next page) 18



NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 and 2022

(In Thousands)

NOTE 6 - INTERFUND AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The North Dakota Student Loan Trust is related to the Bank of North Dakota through common management under
the Industrial Commission of North Dakota. All cash and time deposits are deposited in the Bank of North
Dakota. Interest receivable from the Bank of North Dakota totaled $7 and $9 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 and is
reflected as due from other state agencies on the statement of net position. Investment securities are held in
safekeeping and all student loans are purchased from the Bank of North Dakota. The Bank of North Dakota also
acts as the paying agent for the 2004 Series A Bonds. In addition, the Bank services the student loans held by the
Trust, and maintains the accounting and other records for the Trust.

Fees expensed to the Bank of North Dakota for the following services included in the accompanying financial
statements were as follows:

2023 2022
Service fees $ 4 $
Administration fees 1 1
$ 5 $ 6

Payables to the Bank of North Dakota for such fees amounting to $1 and $2 as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 are
included in “accrued fees payable — related party” on the statement of net position.

NOTE 7 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The North Dakota Student Loan Trust is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The
North Dakota Student Loan Trust is administered by the North Dakota Industrial Commission and, therefore, is eligible
to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to provide a
self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the elimination of the
State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’ employees, and the
University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution was determined using a
projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a total of $250,000 per person and
$1,000,000 per occurrence. The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond
coverage in the amount of $750,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage in any of the past three fiscal years.
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023
(In Thousands)
General Bond Second General
Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Interest receivable $ 1 $ - $ 1
Due from other state agencies - 7 7
Total unrestricted current assets 1 7 8
CURRENT ASSETS - RESTRICTED
Cash and cash equivalents 13 700 713
Investments 1,000 - 1,000
Student loans receivable - 59 59
Total restricted current assets 1,013 759 1,772
NONCURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Student loans receivable - 434 434
Total assets $ 1,014 $ 1,200 $ 2,214
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - Page 2
JUNE 30, 2023

(In Thousands)

General Bond Second General
Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined
LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to other state agencies $ 5 $ - 5
Accrued fees payable - related party - 1 1
Total current liabilities 5 1 6
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Bonds payable 1,000 - 1,000
Total noncurrent liabilities 1,000 - 1,000
Total liabilities 1,005 1 1,006
NET POSITION
Restricted for debt service 13 759 772
Unrestricted 4) 440 436
Total net position 9 1,199 1,208
Total liabilities and net position $ 1,014 $ 1,200 2,214
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2022
(In Thousands)
General Bond Second General
Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Due from other state agencies $ - $ 9 $ 9
Total unrestricted current assets - 9 9
CURRENT ASSETS - RESTRICTED
Cash and cash equivalents 9 668 677
Investments 1,000 - 1,000
Student loans receivable - 139 139
Total restricted current assets 1,009 807 1,816
NONCURRENT ASSETS - UNRESTRICTED
Student loans receivable - 409 409
Total assets $ 1,009 $ 1,225 $ 2,234
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - Page 2

JUNE 30, 2022
(In Thousands)

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Due to other state agencies

Accrued fees payable - related party

Total current liabilities

NONCURRENT LIABILITIES

Bonds payable

Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

NET POSITION

Restricted for debt service

Unrestricted

Total net position

Total liabilities and net position

General Bond

Second General

Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined
$ 1 $ - 1
- 2 2
1 2 3
1,000 - 1,000
1,000 - 1,000
1,001 2 1,003
9 807 816
(1) 416 415
8 1,223 1,231
$ 1,009 $ 1,225 2,234
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023
(In Thousands)
General Bond Second General
Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on student loans $ - $ 30 $ 30

Total operating revenues - 30 30

OPERATING EXPENSES

Interest 46 - 46

Service fees - 4 4

Administration fees - 1 1

Bond related expenses - 9 9

Total operating expenses 46 14 60

OPERATING INCOME /(LOSS) (46) 16 (30)
NONOPERATING REVENUE

Investment income 5 2 7
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (41) 18 (23)
TRANSFERS

Interfund 42 (42) -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1 (24) (23)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 8 1,223 1,231
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 9 $ 1,199 $ 1,208
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NORTH DAKOTA STUDENT LOAN TRUST
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022
(In Thousands)
General Bond Second General
Resolution Bond Resolution
Fund Fund Combined

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on student loans $ - $ 35 $ 35

Total operating revenues - 35 35

OPERATING EXPENSES

Interest 10 - 10

Service fees - 5 5

Administration fees - 1 1

Bond related expenses - 9 9

Total operating expenses 10 15 25

OPERATING INCOME /(LOSS) (10) 20 10
NONOPERATING REVENUE

Investment income 1 - 1
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE TRANSFERS (9) 20 11
TRANSFERS

Interfund 9 (9) -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION - 11 11
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 8 1,212 1,220
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 8 $ 1,223 $ 1,231
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the North Dakota
Student Loan Trust (the Trust), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
Trust’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 2, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Trust’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Trust’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Trust’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Trust’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023

27



EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

North Dakota Student Loan Trust
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?
There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None
2. ldentify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to
determine those estimates.

None

3. ldentify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be
significant to the financial statements.

None

5. Identify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.
None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.
None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or

whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Trust’s critical information technology system is
the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Trust and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

@Mur‘"

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023

30



Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

October 2, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of North Dakota Student Loan Trust (the Trust) as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated October 2, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023 our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Trust solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our findings regarding significant control deficiencies over financial reporting and
material noncompliance, and other matters noted during our audit in a separate letter to you dated
October 2, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of the
significant accounting policies adopted by the Trustis included in Note 1 to the financial statements.
There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant accounting
policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that would require us,
under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account for significant
unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging
areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge and
experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from management’s current
judgments.

There are no significant estimates that affect the Trust’s financial statements.

Financial Statement Disclosures

Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive
because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Program’s financial statements relate to Note 6 — Interfund and Related Party Transactions.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require us
to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the relevant
classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a whole.
Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially
cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the uncorrected
misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There were no
uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter,
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing
matter, which could be significant to the Trust’s financial statements or the auditor’s report. No such
disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph.

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Trust are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Program. They do not purport to, and do not,
present fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the
changes in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect
to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management that are included in the
management representation letter dated October 2, 2023.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and

accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no consultations
with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Trust, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating and regulatory conditions affecting the entity, and
operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters
discussed resulted in a condition to our retention as the Program’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Trust and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota

34



Financial Statements
June 30, 2023 and 2022

Clean Sustainable Energy Authority
(CSEA)

EideBailly

eidebailly.com



Clean Sustainable Energy Authority

Table of Contents

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Statements of Net Position
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position
Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Financial Statements

EXHIBITS
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements
Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor’s Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative
Audit and Fiscal Review Committee

Independent Auditor’s Communication to the Governor of North Dakota and the
Legislative Assembly

Exhibits

A-1

A-2

B-1

Page

1

4

10

11

16

18

21



EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Clean Sustainable Energy Authority (the Authority), an
enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023 and as of and
for the period of March 15, 2022 through June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial
statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Authority, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the
respective changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the year and period then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the
Authority, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Authority are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows of only that portion of the
State of North Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Authority. They do not purport to,
and do not, present fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and
2022, and the changes in its financial position and cash flows for the year and period then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is
not modified with respect to this matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such
opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is
the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial
reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods
of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 2,
2023 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the Clean Sustainable Energy Authority (the Authority) financial
performance provides an overview of the Authority’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 and
period ended June 30, 2022. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Authority.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Clean Sustainable Energy Authority was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 54-63.1-05 to
support research, development, and technological advancements through partnerships and financial support for
the large scale development and commercialization of projects, processes, activities, and technologies that reduce
environmental impacts and increase sustainability of energy production and delivery. The purpose of the financial
support is to enhance the production of clean sustainable energy, to make the state a world leader in the
production of clean sustainable energy, and to diversify and grow the state's economy. The Bank of North Dakota
shall administer the Authority.

Loans made by the Authority may be up to fifty percent of project costs, with a minimum loan amount of $10,000.
The interest rate established for this program has been set at two percent. The maximum term of a loan for this
program must be approved by the Industrial Commission based on a recommendation from the Authority. There
were two new loans for $55,000 with advances of $20,012 made by the Authority during the year ended June 30,
2023. For the period ended June 30, 2022, there was one loan originated for $15,000. As of June 30, 2023, there
were three loans outstanding totaling $35,012 with an allowance for credit losses of $1,751, for net loans of $33,261.

The Bank of North Dakota shall extend a line of credit to the Industrial Commission to support loans or loan
guarantees issued from the Authority. The line of credit may not exceed $250,000, and the interest rate associated
with the line of credit must be the prevailing interest rate charged to North Dakota governmental entities. The
Industrial Commission may access the line of credit through June 30, 2025. As of June 30, 2023, the Authority has
extended $35,000 from the line of credit. House Bill 1014 of the 2023 Legislative Session increased the line of
credit to $390,000.

There was one pending loan commitment totaling $100,000 as of June 30, 2023.
Funds available for investment in loans for the year ended June 30, 2023 were $215,364.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Authority is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include
the statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and statement of cash
flows. The statement of net position provides readers the assets and liabilities of the Authority, with the differences
between the two reported as net position. The statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies
the operating performance of the Authority for the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows
from operating activities, non-capital financing activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to such
questions as where did the cash come from, what was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance
during the reporting period.

(continued on next page)



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 364 $ 67
Loans, net 33,261 14,250
Interest receivable 79 12
TOTAL ASSETS $ 33,704 $ 14,329
LIABILITIES
Accrued Interest Payable $ 1,509 $ 94
Admin Fee Payable 22 19
Notes Payable, due to BND 35,000 15,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES 36,531 15,113
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED (2,827) (784)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION $ 33,704 $ 14,329
Loans

There were two new loans with advances totaling $20,012 made during the fiscal year 2023. There was one loan
for $15,000 made during the period ended June 30, 2022. As of June 30, 2023, there are three loans outstanding
totaling $35,012 with an allowance for credit losses of $1,751 for net loans of $33,261.

Net Position
All monies transferred to the Authority, interest upon monies in the Authority, and payments to the Authority of

principal and interest are appropriated to the Bank on a continuing basis for administrative costs and for loan
disbursements. Net position of the Authority at June 30, 2023 was ($2,827).

(continued on next page)



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND FOR THE PERIOD OF MARCH 15, 2022 THROUGH JUNE 30,

2022
2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES $ 433 $ 79
OPERATING EXPENSES 2,477 863
OPERATING LOSS (2,044) (784)
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 1 -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,043) (784)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR/PERIOD (784) -
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR/PERIOD $ (2,827) $ (784)
Revenue

Operating revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. A loan made from the Authority must have an interest
rate of two percent.

Expenses

The provision for credit loss was $1,001 for the year ended June 30, 2023. The provision for credit loss was $750
for the period ended June 30, 2022. The provision in 2023 and 2022 was due to loan volume and provides an
allowance for potential credit losses.

Administrative fees include fees paid to Bank of North Dakota in the amount of one-half percent of any outstanding
loans and an independent audit of the financial records. For the year ended June 30, 2023 administrative fees totaled
$53. For the period ended June 30, 2022 administrative fees totaled $19.

For the year ended June 30, 2023 interest expense on loans was $1,415. For the period ended June 30, 2022 interest
expense on loans was $94. The interest expense on loans was due to the $35,000 extended on the line of credit from
Bank of North Dakota to support loan fundings by the Authority.

Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on cash and cash equivalents.

(continued on next page)



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

There are two outstanding commitments to extend credit. Loans made by the Authority may be up to fifty percent
of project costs, with a minimum loan amount of ten million. The interest rate established for this program has been
set at two percent. The maximum term of a loan for this program must be approved by the Industrial Commission
based on a recommendation from the Authority.

House Bill 1015 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized transfers up to two hundred fifty million through a line
of credit extended by Bank of North Dakota to the Industrial Commission. As of June 30, 2023, the Authority has
up to $215,364 available for transfer.

House Bill 1014 of the 2023 Legislative Session authorizes repayment of the line of credit of thirty million dollars
to repay the line of credit and to provide future funding for loans. This bill also increased the line of credit to
$390,000 through June 30, 2023.

CONTACTING THE AUTHORITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Authority’s finances and to demonstrate the Authority’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any
questions about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509,
Bismarck, North Dakota 58506-5509.



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)
2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 364 $ 67
Loans, current portion 1,121 -
Interest receivable 79 12
Total current assets 1,564 79
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses
of $1,751 in 2023 and $750 in 2022 32,140 14,250
Total assets 33,704 $ 14,329
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accrued Interest Payable 1,509 $ 94
Admin Fee Payable 22 19
Total Current Liabilities 1,531 113
Noncurrent Liabilites
Notes Payable, due to BND 35,000 15,000
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 35,000 15,000
NET POSITION
Unrestricted (2,827) (784)
Total liabilities and net position 33,704 $ 14,329

See Notes to Financial Statements




CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND FOR THE PERIOD OF MARCH 15, 2022 THROUGH JUNE 30,
2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Interest on loans $ 433 $ 79
OPERATING EXPENSES

Administrative fees 53 19

Interest expense loans 1,415 94

Other Expenses 8 -

Provision for credit loss 1,001 750

Total Operating Expenses 2,477 863

OPERATING LOSS (2,044) (784)
NONOPERATING REVENUES

Investment income 1 -
CHANGE IN NET POSITION (2,043) (784)
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR/PERIOD (784) -
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR/PERIOD S (2,827) $ (784)

See Notes to Financial Statements 9



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND FOR THE PERIOD OF MARCH 15, 2022 THROUGH JUNE 30,

2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payment of administrative expenses
Payment of other expenses
Admin Fee Returned to BND

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Notes Payable, due to BND

NET CASH FROM NON-CAPITAL
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income received
Loan interest received
Loans advanced
Proceeds from principal collections on loans

NET CASH USED FOR INVESTING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN CASH

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR/PERIOD

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR/PERIOD

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING LOSS TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss
to net cash used for operating activities
Adjustment for provision for credit loss
Increase in due to Bank of North Dakota
Reclassification of items to other activities
Interest income on loans

NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022

99 3 -

6] -

49 -

(58) -
20,000 15,000
20,000 15,000
1 -

366 67
(20,012) (15,000)
(19,645) (14,933)
297 67

67 :

364 $ 67
(2,044) S (784)
1,001 750
1,418 113
(433) (79)
(58 $ -
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CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The Clean Sustainable Energy Authority was established by Bank of North Dakota to support research,
development, and technological advancements through partnerships and financial support for the large scale
development and commercialization of projects, processes, activities, and technologies that reduce environmental
impacts and increase sustainability of energy production and delivery. The purpose of the financial support is to
enhance the production of clean sustainable energy, to make the state a world leader in the production of clean
sustainable energy, and to diversify and grow the state's economy.

Loans made by the Authority may be up to fifty percent of project costs, with a minimum loan amount of ten million.
The interest rate established for this program has been set at two percent. The maximum term of a loan for this
program must be approved by the Industrial Commission based on a recommendation from the Authority.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting
Entity: Omnibus, the Authority should include all component units over which the Authority exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Authority.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Authority. The Authority is included as
part of the primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Authority is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position presents increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows presents the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

11
(continued on next page)



CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for credit losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Authority’s activity is with small businesses within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit
risk are present in the Authority.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Authority considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at a specific rate
of two percent on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Authority uses the allowance method in providing for credit losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased or
reduced by the current year’s provision for credit losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for credit losses and the provisions for credit losses charged to operations are based
on management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent credit loss experience, continuous evaluation
of the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Authority has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

12
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CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS
Deposits

The value and bank balance of the Authority’s cash deposits at June 30, 2023 was $364. Of the bank amounts, none
were covered by depository insurance and all are uncollateralized. These monies are deposited in the Bank of North
Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Authority will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the
possession of an outside party. The Authority does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for
deposits. None of the Authority’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Authority’s deposits are
uncollateralized and all of the deposits are held at the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of
North Dakota (NDCC Section 6-09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Fund loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances of
loans are as follows:

2023 2022
Loans, current portion $ 1,121 $ -
Loans, noncurrent portion 33,891 15,000
Total loans 35,012 15,000
Allowance for credit losses 1,751 750
Total loans, net $ 33,261 $ 14,250
Changes in the balances of loans are as follows:
Balance, June 30, 2021 $ -
Loan advances 15,000
Principal collections -
Balance, June 30, 2022 15,000
Loan advances 20,012
Principal collections -
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 35,012
13
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CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in allowance for credit losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year/period $ 750 $ -
Provision for credit losses 1,001 750
Balance, end of year/period $ 1,751 $ 750

There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2023. There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2022. There were
no loans on nonaccrual status and no loans 90 days or more past due as of June 30, 2023. There were no loans on
nonaccrual status and no loans 90 days or more past due as of June 30, 2022.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

House Bill 1015 of the 2021 Legislative Session authorized transfers up to two hundred fifty million through a line
of credit extended by Bank of North Dakota to the Industrial Commission. As of June 30, 2023, the Authority has
up to $215,000 available for transfer.

House Bill 1014 of the 2023 Legislative Session increased the line of credit to $390,000. The industrial commission
shall request from the legislative assembly a deficiency appropriation if the Authority does not have sufficient funds.

The Authority is supervised and administered by the Industrial Commission. All cash accounts are deposited with
the Bank of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent
of the outstanding loans. The Bank charged the program $53 for administration fees during the year ended June 30,
2023, of which the Authority owed the Bank $22 as of June 30, 2023. The Bank charged the program $19 for
administration fees during the period ended June 30, 2022, of which the Authority owed the Bank $19 as of June
30,2022

NOTE 5 - LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-statement-of-net-position risk in the normal
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments
to extend credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount
recognized in the statement of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund
follows the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-statement-of-net-position instruments.
There was one outstanding commitment for $100,000 to extend credit as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses.

14
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CLEAN SUSTAINABLE ENERGY AUTHORITY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 6 - NOTES PAYABLE

The Authority has entered into a revolving line of credit with Bank of North Dakota that provides up to two hundred
fifty million to be extended by Bank of North Dakota to the Industrial Commission. Borrowings under the line of
credit are to be used to support loans or loan guarantees issued from the Clean Sustainable Energy Fund. Borrowings
under the line of credit bear interest at one month FHLB plus 1.4%, with a minimum floor of 1.75%. As of June 30,
2023, the Authority has borrowed $35,012.

NOTE 7 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Authority is
administered by the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the state
for risk management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250,000 per person and $1,000,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Authority with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior period and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Clean
Sustainable Energy Authority (the Authority), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October
2,2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

&M LeF

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Clean Sustainable Energy Authority
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Period of March 15, 2022 through June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?

Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?

There were no prior year findings or recommendations.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. ldentify any significant audit adjustments.

None
4. ldentify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. Identify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.
None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.
None

8. ldentify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the auditor’s
overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or whether any

exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly related to the
operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Authority’s critical information technology system
is the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Authority and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M At

Bismarck, North Dakota
October 2, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

October 2, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Clean Sustainable Energy Authority (the Authority) as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated October 2, 2023.
Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Authority solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to
provide any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding internal controls during our audit in our Independent
Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards dated October 2, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Authority is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
Authority’s financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Authority’s financial statements or the auditor’s
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Authority are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Authority. They do not purport to, and do not,
present fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023, and 2022, and the
changes in its financial position and cash flows for the year and period then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated October 2, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Authority, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Authority’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
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EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund),
an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022,
and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the respective
changes in its financial position, and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund,
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that,
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on
the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion
is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related
matters that we identified during the audit.



Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 7 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information is the responsibility of management and although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or
provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September
21, 2023 on our consideration of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Fund’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

The management discussion and analysis of the Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund’s (the Fund) financial
performance provides an overview of the Fund’s financial activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023 and
2022. Please read it in conjunction with the financial statements of the Fund.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS:

The Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09-49 to
provide loans to political subdivisions, the Garrison Diversion Conservancy District, and the Lake Agassiz water
authority for essential infrastructure projects. The Bank shall manage and administer the infrastructure revolving
loan fund and the loans made from the fund. The Bank may deduct one-half of one percent of the outstanding loan
balance as a service fee for administering the Fund.

The maximum amount of a loan may not exceed the cost of the project. The interest rate for this program has been
set at the same rate as the revolving loan fund established under chapters 61-28.1 and 61-28.2. Amortized payments
over the term of to be determined by the ND Department of Water Resources or the useful life of the project.

In accordance with House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session, the Bank of North Dakota transferred all
outstanding loans and moneys in the community water facility loan fund and all outstanding loans and moneys in

the infrastructure revolving loan fund within the resources trust fund to the water infrastructure revolving loan fund
on July 1, 2021.

There was one loan for $1,100 with advances of $1,004 made by the Fund during the year ended June 30, 2023.
There were two loans for $18,565 with advances of $2,511 made by the Fund during the year ended June 30,2022.
As of June 30, 2023, there were fifty-two loans outstanding totaling $39,975 with an allowance for credit losses of
$600 for net loans of $39,375.

There was one loan commitment for $60,000 as of June 30, 2023.
Funds available for investment in loans as of June 30, 2023 were $24,884.
REQUIRED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. The basic financial statements include the
statement of net position, statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and statement of cash flows.
The statement of net position provides readers the assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources of the Fund, with the differences between the two reported as net position. The
statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position identifies the operating performance of the Fund for
the fiscal year. The statement of cash flows identifies cash flows from operating activities, non-capital financing
activities, and investing activities, and provides answers to such questions as where did the cash come from, what
was cash used for, and what was the change in the cash balance during the reporting period.

(continued on next page) 4



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash deposits $ 24,884 28,665
Loans, current portion 2,719 2,764
Interest receivable 237 226
Total current assets 27,840 31,655
NON CURRENT LOANS, NET 36,656 32,379
Total assets $ 64,496 64,034
CURRENT LIABILITIES $ 49 44
NET POSITION - UNRESTRICTED 64,447 63,990
Total liabilities and net position $ 64,496 64,034

Cash Deposits

Cash and cash equivalents represent funds available for investment in loans. The decrease from 2022 to 2023 was

primarily due to advances on loans.

Loans

As of June 30, 2023, there were fifty-two loans outstanding totaling $39,975 with an allowance for credit losses of
$600 for net loans of $39,375. As of June 30, 2022, there were fifty-four loans outstanding totaling $35,552 with

an allowance for loan losses of $409 for net loans of $35,143.

Net Position

Net position of the fund as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, was $64,447 and $63,990, respectively. Loans are funded
directly from the net position of the Fund. The Fund is directed by the North Dakota Department of Water
Resources. The Bank of North Dakota supervises and administers the Fund and the loans made by the Fund.

(continued on next page)



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

2023 2022

OPERATING REVENUES $ 761 733
OPERATING EXPENSES 389 424
OPERATING INCOME 372 309
NONOPERATING REVENUES 85 20
REVENUES BEFORE TRANSFERS 457 329
TRANSFERS IN - 27,061
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 457 27,390
TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR 63,990 36,600
TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR $ 64,447 63,990
Revenue

Revenue is from interest accrued on loans outstanding. The interest rates earned on these loans range from 1.5% to 3%.

Expenses

Administrative expenses were $187 and $174 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This
expense is paid to the Bank of North Dakota for administration of the Fund in the amount of one-half percent of
outstanding loans. The provision for loan loss was $191 and $244 for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022,

respectively. Other expenses include an independent audit of the financial records.
Nonoperating Revenue

Nonoperating revenue represents interest earned on the cash balance.

(continued on next page)



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

In accordance with House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session, the Bank of North Dakota transferred all
outstanding loans and moneys in the community water facility loan fund and all outstanding loans and moneys in

the infrastructure revolving loan fund within the resources trust fund to the water infrastructure revolving loan fund
on July 1, 2021.

Senate Bill 2015 of the 2023 Legislative Session approved the Bank of North Dakota to extend a line of credit not
to exceed $100,000 to the Department of Water Resources to be transferred to the Fund as requested by the director
of the department of water resources to provide local cost-share loans for projects approved by the state water
commission pursuant to section 6-09-49.2.

CONTACTING THE FUND’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, and creditors with a general overview of the
Fund’s finances and to demonstrate the Fund’s accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions
about this report or need additional financial information, contact Bank of North Dakota, P.O. Box 5509, Bismarck,
North Dakota 58506-55009.



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash deposits at the Bank of North Dakota $ 24,884 $ 28,665
Loans, current portion 2,719 2,764
Interest receivable 237 226
Total current assets 27,840 31,655
Noncurrent Assets
Loans, net of allowance for credit losses
of $600 in 2023 and $409 in 2022 36,656 32,379
Total assets $ 64,496 $ 64,034
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Due to the Bank of North Dakota $ 49 $ 44
NET POSITION
Unrestricted 64,447 63,990
Total liabilities and net position $ 64,496 $ 64,034

See Notes to Financial Statements 8



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022
(Dollars in Thousands)

OPERATING REVENUES
Interest on loans

OPERATING EXPENSES
Administrative fees
Audit expenses
Provision for credit loss
Total operating expenses

OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES
Interest on deposits

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS

TRANSFERS IN

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

TOTAL NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

TOTAL NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

See Notes to Financial Statements

2023 2022
$ 761 733
187 174
11 6
191 244
389 424
372 309
85 20
457 329
- 27,061
457 27,390
63,990 36,600
$ 64,447 63,990




WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

2023 2022

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payment of administrative fees to the Bank of North Dakota $ (182) $ (148)

Payment of audit expense a1 (6)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (193) (154)
NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Transfers from State Water Commission RLF - 4,882
NET CASH FROM NON-CAPTIAL

FINANCING ACTIVITIES - 4,882
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Deposit interest income received from the Bank of North Dakota 85 20

Loan interest received 749 725

Loans advanced (7,210) (2,563)

Proceeds from principal collections on loans 2,788 3,118
NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (3,588) 1,300
NET CHANGE IN CASH (3,781) 6,028
CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,665 22,637
CASH, END OF YEAR $ 24,884 $ 28,665

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income $ 372 $ 309
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash used for operating activities

Reclassification of loan interest income to other activities (761) (733)

Adjustment for provision for credit loss 191 244

Increase in due to the Bank of North Dakota 5 26
NET CASH USED FOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ (193) $ (154)

See Notes to Financial Statements 10



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Operations

The Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund was established by North Dakota Century Code Section 6-09-49 to
provide loans to political subdivisions, the Garrison Diversion Conservancy District, and the Lake Agassiz water
authority for essential infrastructure projects. The Bank shall manage and administer the infrastructure revolving
loan fund and the loans made from the fund. The Bank may deduct one-half of one percent of the outstanding loan
balance as a service fee for administering the Fund.

The maximum amount of a loan may not exceed the cost of the project. The interest rate for this program has been
set at the same rate as the revolving loan fund established under chapters 61-28.1 and 61-28.2. Amortized payments
over the term of to be determined by the ND Department of Water Resources or the useful life of the project.

In accordance with House Bill 1431 of the 2021 Legislative Session, the Bank of North Dakota transferred all
outstanding loans and moneys in the community water facility loan fund and all outstanding loans and moneys in

the infrastructure revolving loan fund within the resources trust fund to the water infrastructure revolving loan fund
on July 1, 2021.

Reporting Entity

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 61, The Financial
Reporting Entity: Omnibus, the Fund should include all component units over which the Fund exercises such aspects
as (1) appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (2) has the ability to impose its will on
that organization, or (3) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific
financial burdens on, the Fund.

Based on that criteria, no organizations were determined to be part of the Fund. The Fund is included as part of the
primary government in the State of North Dakota’s reporting.

Fund Accounting

The Fund is an enterprise fund and uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting,
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred.

Basis of Accounting and Measurement Focus

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement focus. All
enterprise funds are accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus,
all assets and liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position.
Net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted components. The
statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position present increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases
(e.g., expenses) in total net position. The statements of cash flows present the cash flows for operating activities,
non-capital financing activities, and investing activities.

(continued on next page) 11



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities as of the date of the statement of net position and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Material estimates that are particularly
susceptible to significant change in the near-term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses.

Significant Group Concentrations of Credit Risk

All of the Fund’s business is with customers within the State of North Dakota. Concentrations of credit risk are
present in the construction and operation of water infrastructure facilities.

Cash

The Fund considers all cash and time deposits with original maturities of three months or less to be cash for the
purpose of reporting cash flows.

Loans

Loans are stated at their outstanding unpaid principal balance. Interest income on loans is accrued at a specific rate
of 1.5%-3% on the unpaid principal balance.

The accrual of interest on loans is discontinued when, in management’s opinion, the borrower may be unable to
meet payments as they become due. When interest accrual is discontinued, all unpaid accrued interest is reversed.
Interest income is subsequently recognized only to the extent cash payments are received.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The Fund uses the allowance method in providing for loan losses. Accordingly, the allowance is increased by the
current year’s provision for loan losses charged to operations and reduced by net charge-offs.

The adequacy of the allowance for loan losses and the provisions for loan losses charged to operations are based on
management’s evaluation of a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of
the loan portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. Loans are
charged to the allowance when management believes the collection of the principal is doubtful.

Credit Related Financial Instruments

In the ordinary course of business, the Fund has entered into commitments to extend credit. Such financial
instruments are recorded when they are funded.

Operating and Non-Operating Revenues

Operating revenues consist of interest income on the loans. All other revenues are classified as non-operating.

(continued on next page) 12



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS

The carrying value and bank balance of the Fund’s cash deposits as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 was $24,884 and
$28,665, respectively. Of the bank amounts, none were covered by depository insurance and all are uncollateralized.
These monies are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC
Section 6-09-10).

Custodial and Concentration of Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, the
Fund will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party. The Fund does not have a formal policy that limits custodial credit risk for deposits. None of
the Fund’s deposits are covered by depository insurance. The Fund’s deposits are uncollateralized and all of the
deposits are deposited in the Bank of North Dakota and are guaranteed by the State of North Dakota (NDCC Section
6-09-10).

NOTE 3 - LOANS

A description of Fund loans is included under “Nature of Operations” in Note 1. A summary of the balances of
loans follows:

2023 2022
Loans, current portion $ 2,719 $ 2,764
Loans, noncurrent portion 37,256 32,788
Total loans 39,975 35,552
Allowance for loan losses (600) (409)
Total loans, net $ 39,375 $ 35,143
Changes in the balances of loans follows:
Amount
Balance, June 30, 2021 $ 13,973
Loan advances 2,563
Principal collections 3,118)
Transfers in 22,134
Balance, June 30, 2022 35,552
Loan advances 7,210
Principal collections (2,787)
Balance, June 30, 2023 $ 39,975

(continued on next page) 13



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

Changes in allowance for loan losses are as follows:

2023 2022
Balance, beginning of year $ 409 $ 165
Provision for loan losses 191 244
Balance, end of year $ 600 $ 409

There were no impaired loans as of June 30, 2023. No loans were on nonaccrual status and no loans were 90 days
or more past due as of June 30, 2023.

NOTE 4 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Fund is supervised and administered by the Bank of North Dakota. All cash accounts are deposited in the Bank
of North Dakota. The annual administrative fees charged by the Bank are equivalent to one-half percent of the
outstanding loans. Administrative fee expense charged by the Bank totaled $187 and $174 for the year ended June 30,
2023 and 2022, respectively, of which the Fund owed the Bank $49 as of June 30, 2023 and $44 as of June 30, 2022.

Senate Bill 2015 of the 2023 Legislative Session approved the Bank of North Dakota to extend a line of credit not
to exceed $100,000 to the Department of Water Resources to be transferred to the Fund as requested by the director
of the department of water resources to provide local cost-share loans for projects approved by the state water
commission pursuant to section 6-09-49.2.

NOTE 5- LOAN COMMITMENTS

The Fund is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of
business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend
credit. Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit risk in excess of the amount recognized
in the statements of net position.

The Fund’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments. The Fund
follows the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments. There was one
loan commitment for $60,000 as of June 30, 2023.

Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses. Since
some of the commitments may expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements.

(continued on next page) 14



WATER INFRASTRUCTURE REVOLVING LOAN FUND
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

(Dollars in Thousands)

NOTE 6 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Fund is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts and errors and omissions. The Fund is administered by
the Bank of North Dakota and, therefore, is eligible to the same funds/pools established by the State for risk
management issues. These include:

The 1995 Legislative Session established the Risk Management Fund (RMF), an internal service fund, to
provide a self-insurance vehicle for funding the liability exposures of State Agencies resulting from the
elimination of the State’s sovereign immunity. The RMF manages the tort liability of the State, its agencies’
employees, and the University System. All State agencies participating in the RMF and their fund contribution
was determined using a projected cost allocation approach. The statutory liability of the State is limited to a
total of $250 per person and $1,000 per occurrence.

The State Bonding Fund currently provides the Fund with blanket employee fidelity bond coverage in the
amount of $2,000. The State Bonding Fund does not currently charge any premium for this coverage.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the prior year and settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage.
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-1

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Water
Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund), an enterprise fund of the State of North Dakota, as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Fund’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
September 21, 2023.

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Fund’s internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not yet been identified.
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Exhibit A-1, cont.

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Fund’s financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

@M L

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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EldeBallly Exhibit A-2

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund
Auditor’s Specific Comments Requested by the North Dakota Legislative Audit and
Fiscal Review Committee
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

The Legislative Audit and Fiscal Review Committee requires that certain items be addressed by
independent certified public accountants performing audits of state agencies. The items and our
responses are as follows:

1. What type of opinion was issued on the financial statements?
Unmodified

2. Was there compliance with statutes, laws, rules, and regulations under which the agency was
created and is functioning?

Yes
3. Was internal control adequate and functioning effectively?
Yes

4. Were there any indications of lack of efficiency in financial operations and management of the
agency?

No
5. Has action been taken on findings and recommendations included in prior year audit reports?

Yes. In the prior year there was one internal control deficiency identified as a result of the audit.
The recommended adjustment was made by management.

6. Was a management letter issued? If so, provide a summary below, including any
recommendations and the management response.

No
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Exhibit A-2, cont.

Audit Committee Communications:

1. Identify any significant changes in accounting policies, any management conflicts of interest, any
contingent liabilities, or any significant unusual transactions.

None

2. Identify any significant accounting estimates and the process used by management to determine
those estimates.

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of
a number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan
portfolio quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We
evaluated key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses in
determining that it is reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. Identify any significant audit adjustments.
None
4. Identify any disagreements with management, whether or not resolved to the auditor’s

satisfaction, relating to financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that could be significant
to the financial statements.

None

5. ldentify any significant difficulties encountered in performing the audit.

None

6. Identify any major issues discussed with management prior to retention.

None

7. ldentify any management consultations with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters.

None

8. Identify any high-risk information technology systems critical to operations based on the
auditor’s overall assessment of the importance of the system to the agency and its mission or
whether any exceptions identified in the six audit report questions addressed above are directly
related to the operations of an information technology system.

Based on the audit procedures performed, the Fund’s critical information technology system is

the Fiserv system. There were no exceptions identified that were directly related to this
application.
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This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7’

Bismarck, North Dakota
September 21, 2023
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Exhibit B-1

EideBailly.

CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

September 21, 2023

To the Governor of North Dakota
and the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

We have audited the financial statements of Water Infrastructure Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund) as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and have issued our report thereon dated September 21,
2023. Professional standards require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our
audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing
Standards and Government Auditing Standards

As communicated in our letter dated June 29, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that have been
prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our audit
of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered the internal
control of the Fund solely for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide
any assurance concerning such internal control.

We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process.
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

We have provided our comments regarding a significant control deficiency during our audit in our
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government
Auditing Standards dated September 21, 2023.
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Exhibit B-1, cont.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to
you.

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices
Significant Accounting Policies

Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund is included in Note 1 to the financial
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant
accounting policies or their application during 2023. No matters have come to our attention that
would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the methods used to account
for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant accounting policies in controversial
or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus.

Significant Accounting Estimates

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and
are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are normally based on knowledge
and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future events. Certain
accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ markedly from
management’s current judgments.

The most sensitive accounting estimates affecting the financial statements is:

Management’s estimate of the allowance for loan losses is based on management’s evaluation of a
number of factors, including recent loan loss experience, continuous evaluation of the loan portfolio
quality, current and anticipated economic conditions, and other pertinent factors. We evaluated the
key factors and assumptions used to develop the allowance for loan losses and determined that it is
reasonable in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Financial Statement Disclosures
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive

because of their significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosures affecting the
fund’s financial statements relate to Note 3 — Loans.
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Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of
the audit.

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a
whole. Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There
were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures.

Disagreements with Management

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Funds’s financial statements or the auditor’s report.
No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit.

Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report

For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report.

We have made the following modification to our auditor’s report to add an Emphasis of Matter
paragraph:

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Fund are intended to present the financial
position, the changes in financial position and cash flows of only that portion of the State of North
Dakota that is attributable to the transactions of the Fund. They do not purport to, and do not, present
fairly the financial position of the State of North Dakota as of June 30, 2023, and 2022, and the changes
in its financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this
matter.

Representations Requested from Management

We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the
management representation letter dated September 21, 2023.
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Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters.

Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues

In the normal course of our professional association with the Fund, we generally discuss a variety of
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operating
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Fund’s auditors.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Governor of North Dakota, Legislative
Assembly, North Dakota Industrial Commission, Bank of North Dakota Advisory Board, and management

of the Fund and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

&M L7

Bismarck, North Dakota
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CPAs & BUSINESS ADVISORS

Independent Auditor’s Report

Governor of North Dakota and
the Legislative Assembly

State of North Dakota

Bismarck, North Dakota

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Beginning Farmer Revolving Loan Fund (the Fund), a
special revenue fund of the State of North Dakota, as of and for the period ended June 30, 2023, and the
related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the Fund, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in
its financial position for the period then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Fund
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of Beginni